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Introduction

Al Baraka Bank Egypt (Egyptian joint-stock company) has started its banking businesses and activities pursuant to the 
provisions of the tolerant Islamic Shari’a since more than twenty years. The Bank was able as pioneer Islamic banking 
institution during such years to impose itself and forcibly in the banking market arena in Egypt in view of the numerous 
services and products and developed innovative Islamic solutions it provides as well as its launch of an integrated 
saving and investment pools that suit all categories and brackets of the community with regards to the duration and 
periodicity of cashing the return. It also issued a set of an unprecedented new retail financing programs that satisfy 
the needs of a wide sector of the public in the Egyptian market, which all agree with the bountiful provisions of the 
Islamic Shari’a ( medical care, education, clubs membership...etc.

The Bank also provides credit facilities to companies, and participates in syndicated loans with a share that agrees 
with the Islamic legal provisions of large economic feasible projects

The number of branches of the Bank amounts to 23 distributed over major Egyptian governorates and cities in addition 
to foreign currency exchange offices in greater Cairo and Hurghada City

Within the framework of the five - year strategic expansion plan, Al Baraka Bank Egypt intends to inaugurate 17 branches 
for the network of branches to reach 40 by the year 2015. The Bank also expands the network of correspondent banks 
abroad to expand the scope of the service provided to clients

At the medium term the group of specialized financial services provided to individual clients is undergoing expansion. 
In this concern the products scheduled for launching Includes prepaid cards designed for use in ATM’s in all parts of 
the world, telephone banking services and Internet banking services

The authorized capital of the Bank amounts to one billion Egyptian pounds and the issued and paid up capital              
EGP 707.54 million.

Al Baraka Bank Egypt (S.A.E) represents one of the important tributaries of Al Baraka Banking Group (ABG) that takes 
the Kingdom of Bahrain headquarters for its head office. The Group has a wide geographic distribution represented 
in subsidiary banking units and representative offices in thirteen countries spread in three continents that in turn run 
more than 400 branches 
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Shareholders
For The Year Ended 31 December 2012

Shareholders Nationality %

Al Baraka Banking Group Bahrain 73.68

Others - Individuals Egypt 5.07

Others - Egyptian Private  Sectors Egypt 3.89

Dallah Company for Real  Estate Investment Egypt 3.81

AlGabr Co. For Real Estate Investment Qatar 3.59

Misr Insurance Company Egypt 2.98

Misr Insurance Life Company Egypt 2.58

Zad Holding Co. Egypt 1.21

Mohsen  Badr Ali Khlaf Allah Egypt 1.15

Others Different  Nationalities 1.03

Faisal Islamic Bank Fund Egypt 1.0
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The Board of Directors Report
for the Financial Year Ended

31 December 2012

Honorable Shareholders

Peace be upon you, and mercifulness and blessing from Allah

On my own behalf and on behalf of the Board of Directors of your Bank, it gives me pleasure to present to Your Excellencies the 

Annual Report on the activities of Al Baraka Bank Egypt for the financial year ending 31 December 2012. It is to be pointed out 

that despite the instable and unsettled circumstances which have naturally been reflected on the Egyptian banking market, our 

bank – thanks to Allah, and due to the devoted efforts of the bank’s executive machinery, and the board of directors together with 

its branch-committees - has succeeded not only in the maintenance, but even augmentation, of our share in the market. clients’ 

deposits have increased by 14% over the preceding year to reach EGP 14.4 billion, in addition the murabaha and investment 

transactions have grown with 15% over the preceding year to reach EGP 14.7 billion approximately. The total balance sheet of 

the bank ascended to EGP 16.8 billion in 2012, with a growth rate of 13% over the preceding year. 

Net profits realized in 2012 amounted EGP 135.75 million approximately, against EGP 100.1 million in 2011, enabling our bank 

thus to prepare a suggested plan for the distribution of dividends to shareholders for 2012 at the rate of 15% of the paid-up 

capital, amounting thus to EGP 106.1 million, against EGP 92.3 million in the preceding year, i.e. with a growth rate of 15%, 

subject to the approval of both the Central Bank of Egypt, and the General Assembly of our Bank.

Reference has to be made in this connection to the regularity of the bank’s investments portfolio and the adequacy of the 

provisions, despite the difficult economic circumstances and their adverse impact on a wide base of the Bank’s Clientele.

This report will review the main results realized by your bank in the course of the financial year 2012, reflecting the positive and 

effective efforts paid by the board of directors and by the bank’s executive management.   
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Honorable Shareholders 

Under the fast and successive changes on the international, regional, and domestic economic stage, we shall attempt to cast 

some light on the main aspects of such changes, before attempting a study and analysis of the key figures and indicators of the 

bank’s balance sheet.

First: World Economy

•	 The repercussions of the world economic crisis, the latest of which being the Euro Countries crisis, have overshadowed 

the growth rates of the world economy during 2012. Though achieving a growth rate of 3.6% during 2012, that growth 

has been attained at a slower pace than in the earlier year. It has been a feeble growth, overburdened with the impact of 

the difficulties encountered through the preceding few years, while their adverse consequences are still threatening the 

stability and future growth of the world economy. The problem of Euro Countries and the sovereign debt crisis plaguing 

that region is currently the most important factor in determining destination of the global economy. 

•	 It may be worthy in this connection to point out that the economic performance data of the Euro Area Countries have 

revealed a deflation amounting to 0.7% during the second quarter of 2012, against a deflation of 0.5 % during the first 

quarter of the same year, in addition to a slackening growth rate in the German economy -being the most powerful 

economy among the countries of that area- to stand only at 0.3% during the second quarter of  2012, against a growth 

rate of  0.5% during the first quarter of the same year, reflecting so far the inability of the governments of the respective 

countries of the area to suppress and minimize the size of the problem and protect the area from indulging any further 

into the economic stagnation circle.

•	 As for the USA economy, it has also witnessed a slackening in its growth rate during the second quarter of 2012, 

standing at only 1.3% against 2% in the preceding quarter, due basically to the worst drought that have stricken the 

country since 50 years, and reflected directly on the agricultural output. It is to be pointed out that the so far available 

figures indicate further slacking growth throughout the remaining period of the year 2012.

•	 In general, the IMF has lately announced that the US economic recovery has so far been modest and subject to high 

risks connected with the financial strains within the Euro Area; in addition the widening deficit of the US budget, and 

the increasing indebtedness.

•	 On the other hand, the Chinese economy has realized a growth rate of 7.4% during the third quarter of 2012, against a 
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growth rate of 7.6% in the second quarter of same year, indicating also a comparative slackening in the world’s second 

giant economy, attributable to the European indebtedness crises, coupled with the weak recovery of the US economy, 

resulting in a lower demand on Chinese products.

•	 In Japan, the third largest economy in the world, the rate of economic growth dropped from the 1.2% attained in the 

first quarter of 2012, to only 0.3% in the second quarter, and is expected to continue its descending trend during the 

following period due to the rise in the exchange rate of the Japanese currency to such unprecedented historic levels that 

would weaken the competitiveness of the Japanese products in the world markets, and consequently weaken demand 

thereon.

•	 These developments have caused the International Monetary Fund to cut down its expectations for the growth rate of 

the world economy in 2012 to only 3.3% - the lowest since 2009 - though expecting a slight recovery in 2013 to attain 

a growth rate of 3.6 %.

•	 Petroleum prices have recorded their highest levels since 2008 to reach US$ 128 per barrel, but OPEC expects no further 

rise in oil prices due to the expected higher supply of the crude, coupled with an expected lower global demand on oil 

in 2013.

•	 Meanwhile, gold prices have recorded US$ 1650 per ounce, and are expected to ascend further during 2013, in anticipation 

of accelerated demand by the Central Banks of several countries for covering their tendency to print more banknotes in 

the light of the successive financial crises at the world Level, besides the subsequent inflationary pressures.

Second: Regional Economy

•	 The Middle East Region is still suffering foggy circumstances encompassing its economic conditions, particularly under 

such disturbances and changes encountering the political powers governing many of the region’s countries, as well as the 

expectations as concerning the intentions of those powers, especially the politically– orientated Islamic currents, which 

are instrumental in the orientation of the region’s economic inclinations towards, and dependence on such political 

and economic systems that are drastically different from what has been adopted and applied throughout the preceding 

years.

•	 Such foggy circumstances together with their preceding conflicts and political instability, coupled with the so-called 

Arab Spring, have work extremely adverse effects on the economic conditions in the countries of the Middle-East and 
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North-Africa, wherein the proceeds of the tourist activities have drastically retreated, coupled with the deterioration of  

capital inflows, while both the unemployment and the inflation rates have continued their accelerating upward trends; 

apart from the persistence of financial pressures and external debts.

•	 Moreover, the disturbance currently encountering Syria has had necessarily their adverse repercussions on many aspects 

of the economic activity whether within Syria itself or in its trade partners in the region.

•	 Nevertheless, and in spite of all the foregoing, the IMF expectations are still optimistic, as they imply that the financial 

year 2013 is expected to witness the recovery of many economies of the Middle-East and North-Africa countries, due 

to the anticipated alleviation of the prevailing feeling of incertitude, as well as to the comparative stability expected to 

be witnessed in the political conditions. Thus, it is anticipated by such expectations that a growth rate of 3.3% would 

be attained during the Financial Year 2013.

•	 On the other hand, the Gulf Cooperation Council Countries have witnessed during the financial year 2012 a state of 

economic recovery, supported basically by an increase in both the volume and the price of their oil exports, in addition to 

their non-oil GDP as a result of the much higher government expenditure, enabling thus the realization of an economic 

growth rate of 6.5% in the financial year 2012.

•	 However, it is to be pointed out in this connection that an inflation of 4% has been recorded in the financial year 2012 

by the GCCs, accounted for by the continues increase in governmental expenditure, the expansion of the subsidy spread, 

and the doubling of the governmental public sector’s wages in order to meet the growing social demand, to curtail the 

unemployment suffered by the countries of this region, in addition to the escalation of foodstuff prices. It is to be 

mentioned that many of the declarations made by the economic experts of the region anticipate a possible decrease 

in the economic growth rates of those countries if they continue reliance on the expansion of oil production alone, 

particularly in the light of oil price fluctuations, coupled with the continual increase of their governmental expenditure, 

in addition to the relatively high rates of both inflation and unemployment suffered by the countries of this Area.

•	 Within the same context, it is expected that during the financial year 2013, the Gulf Region would witness a retreat in 

the growth rates of their economic activities to stand at 3.7% only, while the non-oil local production of those countries 

is anticipated to increase by 5.5% during the financial year 2013, in the light of the growing role of the non-oil economy 

at both the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia, and the United Arab Emirates.    
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Third: Domestic Economy

The rapidly successive events and political disturbances, accentuated by feeble security suffered by Egypt throughout the 

last two years are still shadowing heavily and adversely on most aspects of the economic activity. The financial year 2012 

has been no better than its forerunner. Most sectors of the economic activity in Egypt have been suffering slackliness, 

stagnation, and contraction, reflecting their adverse effects on the rates of economic performance in Egypt throughout the 

financial year 2012.

•	 Net foreign exchange reserves retreated to US$ 15 billion by the end of 2012 against US$ 24 billion at the end of 2011, 

being the minimum limits required to cover the importation of basic foodstuffs adequate for only 3 months.

•	 The investment ratio as related to the GDP fell to 1.17% in June 2012 as against 5.19% a year earlier, due to the contraction 

of  foreign  direct investment.

•	 Global deficit of the balance of payments for the financial year 2011/2012 amounted to US$ 11.3% billion, against a 

deficit of US$ 9.8 billion during the preceding year, as reflected in the decline of the net international reserves of the 

Central Bank.

•	 The persistent ascent of the US$ exchange rate in terms of the EGP to reach EGP 6.32 in December 2012, and to 

continue its ascent to exceed EGP 6.51 within the first few days of 2013, and is still expected to rise further,

•	 The anticipated increase in all prices of goods and services after the issuance of the tax new law by the Egyptian 

Government, in compliance with what is required by the IMF, and the likely consequent inflationary effects.

It should also be mentioned that the relative calmness in the political scene in Egypt during the few past months has been 

positively reflected on certain indicators of the economic performance as reviewed hereunder:

•	 Expectations indicate that the economic growth rate in Egypt would attain about 2.8% in 2012 as a whole, as against 

1.3% in the preceding year, while anticipated, according to reports issued by the World Bank, to rise further in 2013 to 

4.2%

•	 Both Moody’s Credit Rating and Standard & Poor’s have removed Egypt’s name from the “Watch Countries List” for the 

first time since 25 January 2011.

•	 The treasury-bills issuance cost fell by 1.25 – 1.5% during the later months, indicating lower risks as concerning 

government depts.
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•	 The IMF provisional approval to support Egypt constitutes a positive sign for the encouragement of arab and foreign 

investors to return again to Egypt. Such trend may be further motivated by the IMF expectation for a higher economic 

growth rate during the financial year 2013, subject to the stability of the political and security situation.

•	 The Egyptian Stock Exchange showed an appreciable rise approximating 50% during the first three quarters of 2012, 

after a lengthy period of fluctuations and descent. The Egyptian Stock Exchange Market ranked top among the best 

Stock Exchange primary markets on the world level, but fluctuations in both the volume of circulation and the share 

prices have become a characteristic feature of the Egyptian Stock Exchange as affected by current circumstances.

•	 The balance of the domestic debt has been curtailed by some US$ 521.2 million by a rate of 1.5% to about US$ 34.4 

billion by the end of June 2012, as compared to the end of June 2011.

•	 Similarly, the annual rate of the basic inflation has been curtailed to 5.34% at the end of August 2012 due to the relative 

stability in the prices of consumer goods and the paid-for services.

•	 Furthermore, expectations anticipate a relative improvement in the foreign exchange reserves as supported by external 

aids, the recovery of tourist activities, and the relatively upward inflow of foreign investments; in addition to the growing 

“appetite” of foreign investors to purchase the Egyptian Government debts instruments.

Anyhow, all of these optimistic expectations depend mainly and basically on Egypt’s stepping into a phase of political, economic, 

security, and social stability.
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Main Indicators of the Balance Sheet
For The Year Ended 31 December 2012

Total Balance Sheet

The total balance sheet as at 31 December 2012 amounted to EGP 16.8 billion, recording a growth rate of about 13% over the 

preceding year and reflecting the positive development in the volume of the bank’s business and the growth of its activities, 

despite the passive consequences of the adverse conditions of the various economic sectors in Egypt, as a result of the prevailing 

political disturbances 

Liquid Assets and Semi-Liquid Assets

The balances of  both liquid and semi-liquid assets of our bank amounted to EGP 5.4 billion as at 31 December 2012, due to the 

policy adopted by our bank to maintain adequately high liquidity in response to the prevailing circumstances and as a precaution 

against the current incidents and the volatile behavior of savers under such conditions, in addition to the instructions of the 

Central Bank of Egypt calling banks to maintain adequate liquid assets for fulfilling the  reserve and liquidity ratios as prescribed 

by the Central Bank.

Financial Investments

The financial investments of our bank amounted to EGP 2.8 billion as at 31 December 2012, concentrated mainly in the financial 

investments held to maturity, for the up keeping of the Liquidity Ratios as prescribed by the Central Bank of Egypt, in addition to 

the due precaution advocating the maintenance of a high liquidity under such prevailing circumstances.

Murabaha Transactions and Investment Operations

Net murabaha transactions and investment operations amounted to EGP 7.7 billion as at 31 December 2012 against EGP 6.9 

billion as at 31 December 2011, recording an increase of EGP 0.8 billion, with a growth rate of 12%, reflecting the bank’s strategy 

and its executive plans, calling for the continuity of channeling investments mainly to good and highly credit-worthy clients, 

notwithstanding the difficult economic circumstances.

Balances of Other Assets

The other debit balances amounted to EGP 689.4 million as at 31 December 2012 mostly represented in payments on account 

of the purchase and equipment of premises for the new units of our bank, the first of which being the new building for the head 

office of our bank at New Cairo, purchased towards the end of the financial year 2012, and including new branches for our bank 
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at Zamalek, Saint Fatima, El-Manial, Abbasya, New Maadi, in addition to Adly neighborhood downtown (to substitute El-Alfi 

Branch). It is to be pointed out that “other balances” include also  the balances of assets accrued to the bank’s property as a result 

of settlements made with some bad debtors, in addition to accrued revenues and prepaid expenses… etc.

Fixed Assets

The balances of fixed assets - after depreciation - amounted to EGP 235.1 million as at 31 December 2012, against EGP 90 

million as at 31 December 2011, recording an increase of EGP 145.1 million, accounted for by the year’s depreciation  amounting 

to EGP 28.2 million, over-countered by an increase of EGP 173.3 million represented mainly in the recovery of the premises of 

the branches of our bank which had previously been under the “Lease Financing System”, and have later been fully recovered 

back during the financial year 2012; besides the value of the New Computer System which have actually started the Parallel 

Operation Phase; in addition to the value of the assets of our Al-Azhar Branch, opened at the beginning of 2012.

Customers’ Deposits

The aggregate of customers’ savings pools amounted to EGP 14.4 billion as at 31 December 2012, with a growth rate of 14% 

over the preceding year. It is to be mentioned that our bank is one of the few banks operating within the Egyptian Banking Sector 

which have succeeded not only in maintaining the volume of their deposits, but even in raising them further upward, despite the 

adverse circumstances banging over the country. This success has been achieved due to the fact that a wide base of its customers 

belongs to the Household  Sector characterized with stability and  steadiness, besides the great confidences manifested by those 

dealing with our bank as a pioneer Islamic Institution, backed by a strong  investor, being “Al Baraka Banking Group”. We have 

also to point out to the diversity of the saving and investment pools and channels of our bank, which meet the requirements of 

broad sectors of the community as regards both the duration and periodicity of the return, which are continually being updated 

so as to keep commensurate and competitive, and to cover all types of savings available within the Egyptian banking market.

It is to be mentioned that the balance of the non-costing and the low cost accounts amounted as at 31 December 2012 to EGP 

1488.5 million, against EGP 1162.6 million as at 31 December 2011, recording an increase of 28%, attributable to the success 

of our bank’s policy for the implementation of a strategy aiming at the growth of non-costing as well as the low-cost deposits, 

because of their direct and positive effect on the increase of the bank’s profitability, and on the avoidance of the high-cost money.
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Business Results 
For The Year Ended  31 December 2012

Under the new strategy of our bank, which started with the commencement of the present Executive Management to undertake 

the running of the bank, coupled with the utmost positive efforts paid, and their success in the implementation of the policies and 

plans of the Board of Directors aiming at the continuity of the growth of both the bank’s activity and the volume of its business, 

together with increasing the bank’s share in the market, besides the diversity and multiplicity of the profit positions instead of 

their being confined to the investment returns, and enhancing the forward process for the maximization of the commissions 

and other revenues; in addition to furthering the provision of banking services, the attraction and sourcing of low-cost funds, 

the cautious expansion in  the funding of retail transactions, paying  heed to the current circumstances. Attention has also been 

focusing on the financing of small and medium size projects in cooperation with the Social Funds for Development (SFD) and 

the participation with the major local and international banks for the syndicated financing of economically feasible large and 

strategic projects. As a result of these efforts our bank has been able during 2012, with help from Allah, to realize net profits in 

the amount of EGP 135.75 million against EGP 100.1 million during the preceding year, recording thus a growth rate of  about 

36% above the preceding year - an extremely high rate under such current circumstances and the hard economic conditions 

facing the country – and much exceeding the average achieved by the Egyptian Banking Sector as a whole over the same period. 

Accordingly, our bank is suggesting a plan for the distribution of profits to shareholders at a rate of  15% for the financial year 

2012, making a total of about EGP 106.1 million, against EGP 92.3 million during the preceding year, distributed profits for 2012 

would thus be 15% higher than those distributed for the preceding financial year, which had also been equal to 15% of the bank’s 

paid-up capital, before its increase. The following adverse factors have to be taken into consideration.

•	 The persistent foggy state of affairs enwrapping Egypt’s political and economic conditions, and reflected passively and directly 

on the expectations as concerning the development of the various sectors of the economic activity, including the banking 

sector. 

•	 The increase of the capital expenditure in implementation of our bank’s strategy as regarding the expansion of business as 

well as of its wide geographical distribution, in the light of the bank’s policy towards the acquisition of its branches premises. 

Such expenditure is actually and naturally deducted from the investable funds, a matter which would reflect its passive 
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effects on the volume of the invested funds as well as on their returns, in addition to the impact thereof on the volume of 

annual depreciation. It is to be mentioned in this respect that the positive results of real estate investments can be felt after 

a non-lengthy period of time.

•	 The general tendency - outcoming from the severe competition between banks – to cut down their profit margins which 

represents the difference between the credit and the debit returns particularly as concerning good clients, taking into 

account the increase consented upon by all Public Sector Banks, and the majority of Investment Banks of interest on the 

saving certificates, together with the stabilization thereof for long terms; either for covering their liquidity shortage, or for 

meeting the state budget’s deficit. Due to the necessity of our bank’s coping with this trend within the acceptable limits, for 

maintaining a savings base, especially in the light of the Fatwa of the Reverend Al-Azhar on the “ Allowability” of traditional 

banks; as well as to the debasing of “commission rates” caused by the strong competition between banks for the attraction 

of highly creditworthy customers.

•	 The continuous support of the provisions, aiming at the strengthening of the bank’s financial position, under the persistence 

of the adverse economic challenges due to the instability of the political and security conditions encountered by the country, 

taking into consideration that a certain portion of the provisions earmarked for good debts is now being deducted in 

accordance with the Central Bank strict instructions under the current circumstances, as also concerning defaulting for three 

months or more in the payment of debt installments.

•	 The cautions and relatively reserved credit policies applied by our bank in accordance with its strategy as concerning the 

conditions, procedures and guarantees for the extension of financing, especially under these circumstances and the direct 

effect thereof on the lower volume of the credits granted by our bank, and consequently reflected on the collected returns 

and the profitability.

•	 The  assets  accruing   to  the  property  of  our bank through the settlements of non-performing loans, and the difficulty of 

their disposal and liquidating under the present circumstances, signifying the existence of non-yield frozen assets, and the 

consequent effect on the profitability of our bank.

•	 Gross Revenues

Gross revenues amounted to EGP 1473.5 million as at 31 December 2012, against EGP 1278.5 million in 2011, realizing thus 

an increase of EGP 195 million with a growth rate of about 15%, indicating the success of the bank’s strategy and policies 
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aiming at the multiplicity of its profitability positions, and the diversity of its revenues, despite the crises plan adopted by our 

bank in face of the difficult economic conditions.

Expenses

(1) Returns Expenses

Returns expenses for 2012 amounted to EGP 865.11 million, against EGP 778.69 million for 2011. It is to be pointed out 

that many of the banks operating within the Egyptian Banking Sector under the current challenges, have raised the returns 

rates on their saving deposits in an attempt to attract the largest segment of depositors, pushing our bank thus to raise the 

returns rates on its saving pools, to cope with that tendency in order to maintain the base of its saving-depositors, but the 

increase applied by our bank in this particular respect has not been the same as applied by other banks.

(2) Administrative and Other Operational Expenses

The administrative and other operational expenses amounted to EGP 221.58 million as at 31 December 2012. In this 

respect, reference is to be made to the steady increase in the volume and cost of the operational and services requirements, 

as well as the increase in the safeguarding costs, and otherwise, as a result of the circumstances encountered by the country 

at present together with the opening by our bank of a new branch, besides the initiation and support of new sectors and 

departments; in addition to the growing volume of the branches business, and to the new central administrations, and the 

consequent increase in all items of the general expenses.

Net Profits

Our bank has realized net profits during 2012 amounting to EGP 135.75 million, against EGP 100.1 million in the preceding year, 

reaching thus a growth rate of 36%, which enables our bank to propose a plan for the distribution of profits to shareholders for 

2012, equal to 15% of the paid up capital, making EGP 106.1 million, against EGP 92.3 million for the preceding year, provided 

that such distributable profits, in accordance with the bank strategy, be directed to the increase of both the issued capital and 

the paid up capital of our bank, so as to meet the expansion of the bank’s activities and business, together with its strategic plan 

for the geographical spread of its branches.
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 In conclusion, let us all look forward in aspiration for a near future of stability in the conditions of our dear Egypt, the continuous 

success of our bank’s prosperous process, the fortification of its up-surging activities, business and profitability, with the favor of 

your valuable support, and the fruitful efforts of its Board of Directors and its Executive Management … all of us collaborating 

with full confidence and faith in our ability to sustain an incessant expansion of our bank’s share in the market, and the realization 

of the objectives and the aspirations expected during the coming phase, through the sincerity, dedication, coupled with the full 

collaboration of all efforts in order that our bank would occupy its aspired- for and deserved position among the banks operating 

in Egypt.  

  May Allah guide us all to welfare and success ,

  May Peace be upon you, with the Mercy and Blessings of Allah.

Adnan Ahmed Youssef

                       Chairman 
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H.E. Mr. Mohamed Salah El-Din Mohamed Othman
Board Member (non-executive)
Bachelor of Commerce 1968; He served as General Manager of Arab International Bank. Currently,  Member of the Board of 
Directors of  Sues Canal Company for Technology Settling since  2008; Trustees of October 6 University since 2008, Société des 
Etudes et Développement -Tunisia since 2004; Board Member of Suez Canal Bank from 2004 to 2007.

H.E. Mr. Sayed Ali Othman
Board Member (non-executive)
Bachelor  of Commerce Business Administration, 1971; Post Graduate Diploma in Accountancy and Auditing, 1979; He Served 
as Member of the Board of Directors of  the National Company for Maize Products; as well as of the National Company for the 
[Railways] Sleeping-Cars’ & Touristic Services; Advisor, Debts and Private Investments Processing, Banque Misr, 2006-2010. 
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Formerly, Board Member of Export Development Bank of Egypt; Arab Contractors Company, Gulf Egypt for Hotels and Tourism 
and Egyptian Workers Bank.

H.E. Mr. Mohsen Badr Ali Khalaf Allah
Board Member (non-executive)
Bachelor of Commerce in Business Administration, 1979; He served as General Manager of El- Badr Company for Trading & 
Import; Exclusive Agent of both East-West Express Co. Taiwan; and “Tcn-Thailand Company”,

H.E. Dr. Shawky Al-Husseiny Mohamed Massoud Farag 
Board Member (non-executive)
PHD in Accounting, 1967 from the U.S.A; worked as Professor and Head of the Accounting Section at the Faculty of Business 
Administration - American University, Cairo, and Board Member of National Bank of Egypt, 1991-2002; and as Advisor to the 
Governor of the Central Bank of Egypt and Executive Manager of the Egyptian Banking Institute, 1992-2002; Board Member of 
National Bank of Egypt, (UK) Limited, London, 2000-2002; as well as of the Metal Industries Holding Company, 1992-2005.

H.E. Mr. Ahmed Abu Bakr Ali Abd El-Aty
Board Member (non-executive)
Bachelor of Commerce, 1964; and joined the service of the National Bank of Egypt since graduation till 2001. Appointed as Vice-
Chairman for Dream Land Group, and as, Vice-Chairman of the National Bank of Egypt 2002-2005. 

H.E. Dr. Mohamed Nasser Salem Abu Hammour
Board Member (non-executive)
PHD Economics, UK 1997; Occupied position of Minister of Finance, Jordan, 2009-2011; and Minister of Industry and Trade, 
Jordan, 7/2003 - 10/2003; Secretary General of the Ministry of Finance, 2000 -2003. Worked at the Central Bank of Jordan from 
1987 to 1998. Part time Lecturer at University of Jordan, 1988. Occupying the Post of Chairman of the Board of Directors of a 
number of Jordanian Companies and Corporations, such as: (Arab Potash Company Ltd.; Irbid District Electricity Co; Free-Zone 
Corporation; Industrial Estates Corporation, Jordan Institution for Investment…..)

H.E. Representative of Misr Insurance Company
Board Member (non-executive)
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Board Committees

Governance and Nomination Committee
The Committee consists of three non-executive Board Members, and is basically concerned, in addition to other tasks, with 

periodical evaluation of the Bank’s Governance System, the proposal of suggestions for any appropriate changes in the approved 

Governance Policies, the submittal of suggestions and periodical Supervision on the policies and practices relating to Governance, 

and ensuring the Bank’s compliance with the optimal practicing standards as well as with the applicable Laws and Legislations, 

and with the relevant control instructions and directives of Al Baraka Banking Group, in addition to what may be connected 

with the  Nomination of the independent Members for the Board, and the Appointment, the Renewal of Membership or the 

alienation of a Board Member.

The Executive Committee
In accordance with the provisions of article 82 of Law No 88 for 2003, this Committee consists of seven Members chaired 

by the Vice-Chairman of the Board of Directors and Chief Executive Officer. Its functions are as provided for by Article 29 of 

the Executive Regulations of the same Law, in addition to other functions as may be assigned to it by the Board of Directors 

particularly to study and take decisions as concerning the financing transactions and the facilities to be granted by the bank, 

within the powers conferred by the Board of Directors, besides giving opinion as regarding the reports on the internal credit 

classifications of clients; in addition to giving opinion on the Organizational and Functional Structure of the Bank.

The Audit Committee
Under the provisions of Article 82 of Law No 88 for 2003, this committee consists of three non-executive Members of the 

Board of Directors. Its functions, as provided for by Article 27 of the Executive Regulations of the Same Law, include mainly the 

assistance of the Board of Directors for the handling of its Supervisory responsibilities, and ensuring the independence of the 

Bank’s Internal Auditing as well as of the external Auditors of the Bank; besides the integrity and honesty of the Bank’s Financial 

Data, and also ensuring the Bank’s commitment to afford an effective internal auditing; in addition to any other additional 

functions that may be assigned to the Committee by the Board of Directors. The Committee meetings may be attended by the 

Head of the Bank’s Internal Audit and the Follow-up Sectors.
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The Risks Committee
This Committee consists of three non-executive Board-Members, and is attended in its meetings by the Head of the Bank’s Risk-

Sector.

The Committee is concerned with the Follow-up of the Bank’s abidance by the Strategies and Policies approved for the Bank, 

and the Submittal of Suggestions in respect thereof, especially in connection with the strategies related to the Bank’s Capital 

and to the Management of Credit-Risks, Liquidity Risks, Market Risks, Operational Risks, and the Compliance and Goodwill Risks; 

besides the development and implementation of a framework for the operations of the Risks and Control Departments of the 

Bank, and the follow up of their functioning and the assessment of the impact of such risks on the achievement of the Bank’s 

Objectives, together with ensuring the application of effective Policies, Strategies, and Manuals for the management of all types 

of Risks encountered by the Bank, as well as assuring the effectiveness and efficiency of the Risk Management at the Bank, 

through the identification, measurement, monitoring, control, and the minimization of the Bank’s exposure to risks.

The Salaries and Remunerations Committee
This Committee consists of three non-executive Board Members, in addition to the Bank’s Chief Executive Officer, and is to be 

chaired by an independent non-executive Board Member. The Committee is concerned with ensuring an independent supervision 

on all elements of the salaries as well as on the structure of the agreed-upon other incentives, including the determination of 

the Allowances of the Senior Executives of the Bank; the submittal of suggestion as concerning the Board Members’ allowances; 

besides giving due attention to the Control Jobs at the Bank (the Risk Dept., the Compliance Dept., and the Internal Audit Dept.), 

so that their variable wages would reflect the level of the Bank’s performance together with the Risks to which the Bank has been 

exposed. Generally, the Committee has as its function the revision, the development and the updating of the Policies relating to 

the nominations and the remunerations within the Bank for the purpose of the evaluation thereof and the assessment of their 

comparability with those of other institutions; and of ensuring the Bank’s ability to attract and retain the best elements.

A “Succession Plan” has been approved for the Bank, with the purpose of covering the risks of staff Rotation, and affording the 

availability of a Second Line and a Third Line of leaders having the ability and Efficiency to handle business effectively in case a 

key post becomes vacant. 
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Governance and Compliance   
 Al Baraka Bank Egypt applies and complies with the sound Governance Rules which constitute the optimal method for the 

determination of the distribution of the “Rights and Responsibilities” among the various parties within the Bank (the Board of 

Directors; the Executive Management; the Shareholders; the Depositors; and other Interested Parties). Governance is concerned 

with the necessary Rules and Procedures for taking Decisions as concerning the Bank’s Affairs as well as the determination 

of the Mechanism to be applied by the Board of Directors together with its Committees branching therefrom, and by the 

Senior Management, for laying down the Targets and the Means for the achievement thereof; in addition to the Performance 

Control, the direction and handling of the Bank’s affairs together with its daily activities, taking into account the assumption of 

responsibility towards Shareholders, besides taking into consideration the protection of the interests of Depositors and of the 

other interested parties, while ensuring that the Bank’s activities are run in a safe and sound method, and within the  framework 

of Compliance with the Laws and Parameters in force, and the application of principles of disclosure and transparency.   

The Bank’s Board of Directors
The Bank’s Board of Directors consists of top competent personalities having extensive expertise and skills coupled with the 

necessary and appropriate qualifications. It is constituted as a whole from a blend of such basic competencies that would ensure 

effective and highly efficient performance, and who should not be - less in number – than (11) members nor more than (15) 

Members. The Board is to be presided over by a non-executive Chairman, while the Vice-Chairman of the Board shall assume the 

functions of the Bank’s Chief Executive Officer.

The Duties and responsibilities of the Board of Directors as a whole, as well as those of the Board Chairman and of the Chief 

Executive Officer, are defined and ratified in the Governance Manual. The Proper Balancing and Independence Principle should be 

applied in the selection of the Board Members. The Board shall create appropriate Channels for the effective inter-communication 

between the Board Members, as well as between the Board and the Bank’s Senior Management and the responsible Audit and 

Control Officers.

All Board Members can get accurate and clear information at the proper time on all relevant matters, and can also avail 

themselves of, and obtain the advice from the services of the Bank’s legal Officer and the Bank’s Secretary who shall, together 

with the Head of the Compliance Department, shall be responsible for ensuring the application of the Board Procedures and its 
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abidance by all rules and regulations in force.

An official qualifying course shall be arranged for each new Board Member upon joining the Board of Directors, including a briefing 

on the Governance Policy of the Bank’s Companies coupled with providing him with a copy thereof for reference, and including 

also the arrangement of meetings to be held with the other Board Members and with the Secretary of the Board, besides the 

presentation of the necessary programs for the continual culturing and evolution of Board Members, so as to ensure their being 

aware of the most up-to-date innovations and developments within the Banking Industry and Sector, both domestically and 

Internationally, so as to enable them to undertake their tasks as Board Members.

The Board of Directors with apply the Governance Policy, starting by the establishment of the Governance Culture, the approval 

of the Ethical Standards and the Professional Conduct Pact for both the Staff and the Senior Management of the Bank, up to 

the taking of the necessary decisions for spreading the objectives and the conduct that should be followed within the Bank. 

In parallel with all the foregoing, the Board has to maintain and protect the interests of the Shareholders and the Depositors, 

besides the  approval of the standards and values that reflect the Bank Policies which should be observed by all of the Bank’s 

personnel together with its Senior Management as well as by the Board Members, in addition to the Strategically Orientation 

of the Bank, the determination of the general targets of the Executive Management, and the follow-up of their implementation, 

and asserting the efficacy of both the Internal Audit and the Risk Management Systems, in such a manner that would maintain 

the Bank’s Image.

Performance Evaluation
•	 Coping with the Governance Policy approved for our Bank, the Bank has taken certain official procedures with the purpose 

of enabling the Board of Directors to undertake – in accordance with the approved formats – an official evaluation of its 

performance as a whole body as well as of the performance of its members as individuals, and of its Committees branching 

therefrom.

•	 The Board of Directors has held four Meetings attended by all of the Board Members (100% by each, with the exception of 

one member whose attendance reached only 75%)

•	 The Board of Directors has held one Meeting for the non-executive Board Members, with the attendance of the Chairman of 

the Board, but, without being participated in by the Executive Members.
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Disclosure & Transparency
The Bank applies the “Disclosure and Transparency Principle” in all of its business, within the framework of the Rules issued 

by the Control Bodies and within the Requirements of the Banking Standards. This can be achieved by availing data and 

information through all visual and audible Media Means, as well as on our Website and in the Annual Financial Report of the 

Bank, in order that all information and conditions; would be available for all of its clients and for the Public, as regulated and 

defined by the Disclosure and Publicity Policy approved for the Bank.

Conflict of Interests
The Board of Directors shall approve the Policies relating to the Management of any conflict of interests, and shall apply such 

policies to the Board of Directors as well as to the Executive Management and the Staff, and to such other Bodies having 

direct and/or indirect relevance. Any of the Bank’s operations that may involve any conflict of interests should be presented 

to the Board of Directors for approval. The Annual Financial Report of the Bank should contain a detailed clarification of any 

operations or transactions that may constitute any conflict of interests.

The Bank’s Strategic Shareholder – Al Baraka Banking Group
Al Baraka Banking Group is a Bahrain Joint Stock Company Licensed as an Islamic Wholesale Bank by the Central Bank of 

Bahrain, and listed on Bahrain Bourse and Nasdaq Dubai stock exchanges. It is a leading international Islamic bank providing 

its unique services to around one billion people and with Standard and Poor’s investment grade long term counterparty credit 

rating of BBB- / A-3 (Short Term). Al Baraka Banks offers their banking and financial products and services strictly in accordance 

with the principles of the tolerant Islamic Shari’a within the retail, trading Banks and the investment field, in addition to the 

treasury services. The authorized capital of the Group is US$1.5 billion, while total equity amounts to about US$1.8 billion.

The Group has a wide geographical presence in the form of subsidiary banking Units and representative offices in fifteen 

countries, which in turn provide their services through more than 400 branches. Al Baraka is currently having a strong presence 

in Jordan, Tunisia, Sudan, Turkey, Bahrain, Egypt, Algeria, Pakistan, South Africa, Lebanon, Syria, Indonesia, Libya, Iraq and Saudi 

Arabia
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Members of the Bank’s Senior Executive Management

Mrs. Zeinab Mohamed El-Bahey Al-Safty

Senior Assistant of the Chief Executive Officer

Mr. Sami Fathi Mohamed Abdul Gawad

Assistant Chief Executive Officer for Internal and Treasury Operations

Mr. Salah Hassan Swefi Ali

Head of the Internal Audit and the Follow-up Sectors

Mr. Hazem Mohamed Mustafa Mohamed

Head of the Bank Marketing, Financing, and Investment Sectors

Mrs. Ruqaya Riad Ismail

Legal Counselor supervising the Legal Sector

Mr. Mohamed Reda Ahmed Mostafa

In charge of the Foreign Operations’ Sectors

Mrs. Mushira Fathi Dakrouri

In charge of the Risk Sector

Mr. Ali Ismail Ali Ismail

In charge of the Branches and Central Units Sector

 Mr. Emad Mohamed Shalabi Mohamed

In charge of the General Department for Compliance
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Compliance Department
The Organizational Structure of the Bank includes an independent Central Control Department, directly subordinate to the 

Audit Committee, branching from the Board of Directors. There has been appointed in charge of the said Department, a 

Compliance Officer, having distinguished efficiency, appropriate expertise, and high ability for contact and communication 

with all of the Bank’s Officers and Staff. The Department undertakes its functions in a professional and effective manner for the 

identification, the evaluation and the control of Compliance Risks which may be reflected in Control legal penalties, financial 

loss, or the loss of the Bank’s Image as a result of its failure to abide by the Laws and Regulations, or by the Ethical Conduct 

Rules of the Profession. The Department exercises a crucial role, particularly the application of the Rules, Instructions and 

Systems concerning the Anti-Money-Laundering and Terrorism Financing. No Banking Business may be exercised by this Unit. 

The Compliance Department receives full support from the Board of Directors and the Senior Executive Management, for the 

free and independent performance of its functions. Appropriate Policies and work system have been prepared and approved 

for its performance of its independent activity as one of the Internal Control Units. It has to prepare Quarterly and Annual 

Reports and raise them directly to the Audit Committee branching from the Board of Directors and to the Board of Directors, 

besides referring a copy thereof to the Senior Management for information. There may also be submitted with such Reports, 

any suggestions for any amendments to be introduced to the Policies and Work Systems, so as to keep commensurate with 

the developments witnessed by the Bank.

The Compliance Department cooperates with the Human Resources Sector for the development and outspread of the 

Compliance culture among all of the Bank’s personnel and their training in this respect; besides the participation in the 

development of Training Programs associated therewith. 

Risk management
Risks constitute a key component of the Financial and Business Activities of the Market Economy. Risk Tolerance and/or Risk 

Conveyance represent two basic characteristics of the Banking Activity. The handling Risk Management is essential, taking 

into account that the Banking Business evolves and gets more and more complicated, notwithstanding the existence of strict 

Control Instructions. The matter necessitates the development and application of such Policy systems that would enable 

the identification, the measurement, the monitoring, and the proper Management of Risks, with the objective of controlling 
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and the alleviation or the minimization of such Risks to restrict them within tolerable limits in accordance with the bank’s “Risk 

Appetite”, in view of the acceptable Risk Limits as approved by the Board of Directors.

Owing to the diverse and sophisticated activities pursued by our Bank, the Bank would be normally exposed to diversified risks, 

and to the fact that Risk Tolerance has thus become basical for the financial activity, it is essential then to analyze and evaluate 

some, or a group taken together of the Risks. It is through such analysis and evaluation that the Bank can decide the acceptance 

and toleration of certain risks or the transmittal of their impact to other parties. In all cases, the Bank seeks to achieve an 

acceptable balance between Risk Tolerance and the anticipated return of such toleration.

Certain Risk Management Policies have been developed for the Bank (Credit Risk; Market Risk; Liquidity Risk; Return-Rates 

Risk; and Operational risks), including the identification, measurement, evaluation, analysis and control of Risks; besides the 

determination of limits thereto and controls thereon, through diverse methods and continually updated information systems, 

in accordance with the approved relevant Risk Acceptance Policy, in close collaboration with the Bank’s Operational Units. The 

Policies and Risks Management system are periodically revised and amended so as to cope with the changes taking place in the 

markets, products and services, together with the best modern applications.

The Risk Management Sector of the Bank undertakes a periodical follow-up of the extent of the Bank’s Compliance with the 

maximal acceptable Risk limits, and with the actual extent outstanding within the Bank. This can be achieved through Periodical 

Reports to be presented to the Risk Committee emanating from the Board of Directors, for approval, so as to be raised thereafter 

to the Board for information as well as for taking what it may deem appropriate in respect thereof. The Sector applies automated 

system for the determination of the creditworthiness of all of the Bank’s clients whether being banks and correspondents, or 

being corporations and companies, or small-scale economic activities clients, or retail-banking clients.

The bank adopts extremely cautions policies as regards the Liquidity Control, and applies higher ratios than those normally 

required for control purposes. Such policies include an approved plan and a Permanent Committee for Liquidity Risk Management 

under exceptional circumstances, while pursuing specialized methods for the Market Risks Management. The Bank has also to 

conduct a periodical appraisal of its investments, besides laying control on the Cash-Flows, through the Management of its 

Assets and Liabilities in order to achieve at all times the Balance required, with the purpose of the maximization of the Capital’s 

profitability, and the provision of adequate liquidity for the all-time meeting of requirements, and the consolidation of the Bank’s 
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approved Strategy, besides the avoidance of entering into High-Risk Investments. It is to be noticed that the Bank does not 

maintain presently an Investment Portfolio for trading purposes.     

Shari’a Operational Risks 
Our Bank, Al Baraka Bank Egypt, exercises all Banking services and operations together with the Commercial and Investment 

Business, as authorized for commercial Banks, on non-usury basis, in conformity with the provisions and principles of  the Islamic 

tolerant Shariá and under the relevant applicable Laws.

Our Bank belongs to Al Baraka Banking Group, (the Bank’s Principal Investor), as being a Unit of the Group which stands as one 

of the leading Banking Entities in the World, abiding by the application of  the provisions and principles of the Islamic Shariá in 

all of its transactions.

This is further evidenced by the Organizational Structure of the Bank, which embodies a Shariá Supervisory Board, directly 

linked to the Bank’s Board of Directors, and consists of three eminent Scholars specialized in Islamic Shariá and the Islamic 

financial transactions, and recognized and acknowledged for their sound Religious opinions (Fatwa) and deeply versed in the 

Jurisprudence of transactions. The Shariá Supervisory Board undertake the study and scrutiny of the Contracts and the Practical 

Agreements Forms, the Procedural and Technical Manuals together with the [Standard] Forms used in the Bank [daily] activities, 

in addition to any innovated products, as concerning the Shariá point of view. This Board issues Decisions, Recommendations, 

Religions opinions (fatwa) in their final form; its Decisions are binding.

The Board undertakes the examination and revision of the Bank operations, besides checking the Bank’s revenues and their 

sources through the Quarterly Financial Positions before having been approved, and submits its Reports therein at its Periodical 

Meetings, in addition to its independent Annual Report as concerning the Bank abidance by all Shariá requirements, for 

publication, accompanying the Bank’s Annual Financial Report.

For the further enhancement of this Role, the Bank has appointed a Shariá Internal Auditor, for the follow-up, and the 

implementation of all Fatwas, Rulings and Recommendations, emanating from the Shariá Supervisory Board, as well as for 

conducting periodical field visits to all Branches of the Bank to ensure abidance of all daily business carried out at the Bank, 

thereby; in addition to the clarification and rapprochement of  variant points of view between Shariá rules and the actual 

problems of their application. The aforesaid Auditor presents his Reports to the Shariá supervisory Board as well as to the Senior 

Management of the Bank. He is empowered to draw the attention of the concerned bodies for rectifying the discovered Shari’a 

mistakes, which can be rectifies forthwith
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The Social Responsibility
The Social and environmental responsibility constitutes one of the strategic determinants adopted by our bank for attaining 

the best practices on both the domestic and the Regional levels. The Bank seeks the provision of high quality financial and 

banking services for all categories of the Community, governed by our abidance by the principles of the tolerant Islamic Shariá, 

which give due attention to the environment and to the Community, and urge the achievement of sustainable results, based 

on the confidence springing out of the satisfaction of both clients and Shareholders, besides deepening the sense of loyalty and 

belonging among all of the Bank personnel; and the diligent observation of the environmental and Community requirements. 

Our Bank undertakes to be committed to the protection of the Human Rights and the acknowledgment of the principles of the 

Staff rights and the participation in combating financial crimes.

•	 The bank has - since years ago and through the Fund of Zakah and Charity Donations established and equipped Medical Units 

at the University Hospitals, including neurosurgery and spinal unit, intensive care unit and dialysis unit. These Units provide 

their free services to thousands of poor and needy patients, while the Bank undertakes a periodical follow-up of such Units 

for ensuring the continual proper performance thereat. 

•	 The Bank has appointed since its inception a Medical Responsible charged with safeguarding the health and safety of all of 

the Bank personnel. This has been supplemented by contracting with many specialized medical centers.

•	 The Bank undertakes the distribution of symbolic in-kind gifts for all of its personnel at various occasions, besides sponsoring 

their sport activities.

•	 The Bank insures its clients and those frequenting the Bank’s Units against Civil Risks.

•	 The Bank observes, when granting its financing, that such financing should be for such project that would contribute to 

covering actual and necessary needs of the Community, without contributing to the financing of activities contradicting with 

religious rulings or that involve threatening the community or the environment.

•	 The Bank gives particular attention for supporting the Community by the provision of contributions and sponsorship of 

activities, through the Fund of Zakah and Charity Donations of Al Baraka Bank Egypt, for students and individuals, besides 

the granting of annual rewards and incentives to those who recite Glorious Quran, by heart.  
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Report of The Shari’a Supervisory Board

To The Shareholders of Al Baraka Bank Egypt 

Allah’s peace and blessings upon you all

We have monitored the principles used and the contracts related to the dealings and applications that the Bank has launched 
during the period. Our monitoring was carried out to ensure that the bank has complied with the provisions and principles 
of the Islamic shari’a as well as the specific legal opinions, (Fatwa), decisions and recommendations that we have issued.

We have carried out our monitoring that included documentation bases and the procedures adopted by the Bank on basis 
of testing each kind of transaction.

We have planned and implemented our monitoring in order to obtain all information and interpretations that we have 
considered necessary to provide us with sufficient evidence to give reasonable confirmation that the Bank did not violate 
the provisions and principles of the Islamic shari’a.

We believe that:

a) The contracts, transactions and dealings that the bank concluded during the year ended 31 December 2012 
were carried out pursuant to provisions and principles of the Islamic shari’a.

 
b) That the profits distributions agree with the basis approved and that the dividends were distributed among 

the owners of shareholders’ equity and investment accounts according to the contracts concluded among 
them.

We pray to Allah Almighty to guide us to success and prosperity.
 
Allah’s peace and blessing upon you.
 

                                                                                For
                                                                               Shari’a Supervisory Board

                                                                              Dr. Youssef Mahmoud Kassem
                                                                                   Member of the Shari’a Supervisory Board

                                                                                  & Bank’s Shari’a Supervisor
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Auditors’ Report 

To the Shareholders of AI Baraka Bank Egypt

Report on the financial statements

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of AI Baraka Bank Egypt (S.A.E) which comprise of the 
balance sheet as at 31 December 2012 and the related statements of income, changes in equity and cash flows for the 
year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

These financial statements are the responsibility of Bank’s management. Management is responsible for the 
preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in a fair and clear manner in accordance with the rules 
of preparing and presenting the financial statements issued by the Central Bank of Egypt on 16 December 2008 and in 
light of the prevailing Egyptian laws. Management’s responsibility includes designing, implementing and maintaining 
internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; this responsibility also includes selecting and applying appropriate 
accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our 
audit in accordance with the Egyptian Standards on Auditing and in the light of the prevailing Egyptian laws. Those 
standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable 
assurance whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements .The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of 
material misstatement of the financial statements ,whether due to fraud or error .In making those risk assessments, the 
auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements 
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
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opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of 
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating 
the overall presentation of the financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit 
opinion. 
 
Opinion
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position 
of AI Baraka Bank Egypt (S.A.E) as at 3 I December 2012, and of its financial performance and its cash flows for the 
year then ended in accordance with the rules of preparing and presenting the financial statements issued by the 
Central Bank of Egypt on 16 December 2008 and the Egyptian laws and regulations relating to the preparation of 
these financial statements.

Report on Legal and Other Regulatory Requirements
According to the information and explanations given to us during the financial year ended 31 December 2012, no 
contravention of the Central Bank, banking and monetary institutions Law no. 88 of 2003 and articles of incorporation 
were noted.

The bank maintains proper books of account, which include all that is required by law and by the statutes of the bank; 
the financial statements are in agreement thereto.

The financial information included in the Board of Directors’ report which is prepared according to law no 159 of 
1981 and its executive regulations, is in agreement with the books of the Bank insofar as such information is recorded 
therein.

ERNST & YOUNG 
Allied for Accounting & Auditing (E& Y) 

Public Accountants & Consultants

BAKER TILLY 
Wahid Abdel Ghaffar & Co.

Public Accountants & Consultants

Cairo: 20 January 2013
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BALANCE SHEET 
For The Year Ended 31 December 2012

Ashraf Ahmed El Ghamrawy Adnan Ahmed Youssef

Vice Chairman and Chief Executive Chairman

- The accompanying notes from (1) to (37) are an integral part of these financial statements.
- Auditors’ report attached.
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STATEMENT OF INCOME 
For The Year Ended 31 December 2012

Ashraf Ahmed El Ghamrawy Adnan Ahmed Youssef

Vice Chairman and Chief Executive Chairman

- The accompanying notes from (1) to (37) are an integral part of these financial statements.
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
For The Year Ended 31 December 2012
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Non monetary transactions:

A Sum of LE 58 070 205 representing purchasing of fixed assets and preparing new branches, Movement in both debit 
balances and payments to purchase fixed assets were eliminated for the purpose of preparing the cash flows statement.

The bank eliminated the effect of exercising the sale and lease back option from both Murabaha, mudaraba and musharaka 
for customers and Payments to purchase fixed assets as follows L.E million 65 related to bank’s headquarter building , L.E 
million 20.15 related to (October and Mohandeseen branches)  and  L.E million 22.75 related to (Alexandria, Smouha, Burj 
Al Arab and Mansoura branches).

According to the instructions issued by Central Bank of Egypt the movement of assets reverted to the bank during the year 
was excluded from  Murabaha, mudaraba and musharaka for customers.

A Sum of LE 2 061 700 representing the amount used from other provisions was eliminated.

- The accompanying notes from (1) to (37) are an integral part of these financial statements.
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 
For The Year Ended 31 December 2012

- The accompanying notes from (1) to (37) are an integral part of these financial statements.
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STATEMENT OF PROFIT APPROPRIATION (PROPOSED)
For The Year Ended 31 December 2012

- The accompanying notes from (1) to (37) are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Notes To The Financial Statements

For the Year Ended 31 December 2012

1. GENERAL INFORMATION 

- Al Ahram Bank (S.A.E) was established as a commercial bank on 19 March 1980 under law no. 43 for year 1974 and 
its amendments, which was replaced by the Investment law.

- According to the decree of Extraordinary General Assembly held on 21 September 1988 the bank’s name was changed 
to the Egyptian Saudi Finance Bank. The Bank provides corporate and retail banking and investment services under 
the provisions of the Islamic Sharia in the Arab Republic of Egypt through 23 branches. It employs more than 900 
employees on the date of the balance sheet.

- The head office of the bank is located at 60 Mohy El Din Abu El Ezz St., Dokki, Giza. The Bank is listed in Cairo and 
Alexandria Stock-Exchanges.

- The Extraordinary General Assembly of the Bank held on 30 April 2009 decided to change the bank’s name to            
Al Baraka Bank Egypt.

- The bank does not engage in financial derivatives transactions, forward contracts or loans according to its Islamic 
business system. This applies to such terms whenever mentioned in the notes to the financial statements.

   

2. SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The significant accounting policies applied in the preparation of financial statements are set out below. These policies 
have been consistently applied to all years presented unless otherwise is disclosed:

A. Basis of Preparation of Financial Statements 
Financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Egyptian Accounting Standards issued in 2006 and its 
amendments, and in accordance with the Central Bank of Egypt instructions approved by its Board of Directors on 16 
December 2008 complying with the mentioned standards, and on the historical cost basis modified by the revaluation of 
financial assets and liabilities held for trading, and financial investments available for sale.
 

The financial statements of the Bank are prepared under the provisions of the relevant local laws.
  
The following is a summary of the significant changes in the accounting policies and financial statements 
consequent to the application of these accounting amendments: 



43

- Disclosure requirements regarding the financial risks management objectives, policies and methods, and the capital 
adequacy management in addition to some of other notes.

- Related parties are identified according to the amended requirements and the relative new notes for those parties. 

- Measurement of impairment losses of Murabaha, Musharaka, Mudaraba transactions and other debt instruments at 
amortized cost has changed. Consequently, the general provision for Murabaha, Musharaka, Mudaraba transactions is 
replaced with either aggregate provisions for groups of assets that bear credit risk and have similar specifications; or 
individual provision. The change in the applied method of charging provisions resulted in increase in the specific provisions 
charged for specific items by LE 46 635 245 for direct liabilities and LE (4 226 483) for contingent liabilities. The total 
increase in provisions charged for direct liabilities as of 1 January 2009 were transferred from the provisions according 
to the new method to a special reserve in shareholders’ equity. The opening balance of other provisions was adjusted by 
the differences in contingent liabilities provisions. Notes (30 and 33) illustrate the effect of the changes in such policy on 
shareholders’ equity, other provisions, and items exposed to credit risk.

- When determining the effective rate of return in order to apply the amortized cost method in calculating income and cost 
of return of debt instruments, fees and commissions related to debt instruments acquisition or issuance are identified and 
added or subtracted from the value of acquisitions/issuance as a part of the transaction cost. This has resulted in changing 
the effective rate of return for these instruments.

- The bank has reviewed the assets reverted to the bank in settlement of debts to confirm the compliance with the rules for 
classifying these assets as non current assets held for sale in “Other Assets”. No differences in the reclassification or the 
value at which those assets are measured occurred, only the reclassification of the assets sold in installments was changed 
along with its effective rate of return.

- The bank reclassified the subordinated finance from the main shareholder and changed its value as it recognized the 
balance at present value. The difference between the nominal value and present value was recognized in “Differences 
between nominal value and present value of subordinated finance from main shareholder” item. The cost of the 
subordinate finance was charged to the income statement and the difference between the nominal value and present 
value is amortized annually against increasing the retained earnings.

B. Subsidiaries and Associates
B-1 Subsidiaries 

Companies - including special purpose entities (SPEs) - over which the bank has a direct or indirect power to control 
their financial and operational policies, generally the bank has ownership of more than one half of the voting rights. The 
existence of influence on the future voting right exercised or transferred in the present time is taken into consideration 
during the evaluation of whether the bank has a control over the entity or not.
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B-2 Associates 
- The associates are entities which the bank has direct or indirect influence over them without reaching the extent of 

control. Normally the bank has ownership ranging between 20% and 50% of the voting rights.

- The purchase method is used in accounting for the bank’s acquisition of companies and the acquisition cost is measured 
by fair value or the equivalent value which the bank offered from its assets for purchase and/or issued shareholders’ 
equity’s instruments and/or obligations the bank incurred and/or obligations the bank accepted on behalf of the 
acquired company to complete the acquisition process and that on the date of the exchange process plus any costs 
that can be directly attributed to the acquisition process. Net assets including acquired potential obligations that can 
be defined are measured at fair value on the acquisition date regardless of the existence minority’s rights, the increase 
in the acquisition cost over the fair value of the bank share in the net assets is considered goodwill, if there is a decrease 
in the acquisition cost below the fair value of the said net, the difference is to be recorded immediately in the income 
statement within the item of “Other operating income” (expenses). 

- The accounting for the subsidiaries and associates in the bank’s financial statements is made using the cost method. 
These investments are recorded by the acquisition cost including any goodwill deducted from it any impairment losses 
of its value. The profits appropriations are recorded in the income statement at its approval and when the bank has 
the right to collect it. 

C. Segment Reports 
A business segment is a group of assets and operations related to providing products or services subjected to risks and 
rewards that differs from those of other business segments. The geographical segment is related to providing products and 
services in a particular economic environment subjected to risks and rewards that differs from those of other geographical 
segments operating in a different economic environment. 

 
D. Foreign Currencies Translation

D-1 Functional and presentation currency
- Items included on the financial statements of foreign branches of the Bank are measured using the currency of the 

basic economic environment in which the foreign branch operates its business (functional currency).

- The bank’s financial statements are presented in Egyptian pounds which represent the bank’s functional and 
presentation currency 

D-2 Foreign currencies transactions and balances 
- The bank’s accounts are maintained in the Egyptian pound and foreign currencies transactions are translated during 

the year using the prevailing exchange rates at the date of transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated 
in foreign currencies are translated at year-end using the prevailing exchange rates on that date. Foreign currencies 
exchange gains and losses resulted from settlement of such transactions and revaluation differences are recorded in 
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the income statement in the following items: 

*   Net trading income or net income from financial instruments held at fair value through the profit or loss for assets/
liabilities held for trading or at fair value through profit or loss at inception according to its type.

* Other operating income (expenses) for other items. 

- Changes in the fair value of monetary financial instruments held in foreign currencies and classified as investments 
available for sale (debt instruments) are analyzed to either as revaluation differences resulting from changes in the 
amortized cost of the instruments, differences resulting from changes in the prevailing exchange rates, or differences 
resulted from changes in the fair value of the instrument. Differences resulted from changes in the amortized cost are 
recognized in the income statement in “Return on Murabaha, Musharaka, or Mudaraba and similar revenues”, while. 
differences related to changes in the prevailing exchange rates are recognized in “Other operating income (expenses)” 
Differences resulted from changes in the fair value (fair value reserve/financial investments available for sale) are 
recognized in shareholders’ equity. 

- The evaluation differences resulted from items other than those with the monetary nature include the profits and 
losses resulted from the change of the fair value such as the equity instruments held in fair value through profits and 
losses. The evaluation differences resulted from equity instruments classified as financial investments available for sale 
are recognized within the fair value reserve in the shareholders’ equity.

D-3 Foreign Branches

Operating results and the financial position of foreign branches are translated to the presentation currency (if not operating 

in a hyperinflationary economy) for which functional currency differs from the bank’s presentation currency are accounted 

for as follows:

- Assets and liabilities for each balance sheet presented for the foreign branch are translated using closing rates at the 
balance sheet date.

- Revenues and expenses for each income statement presented are translated using the average exchange rate, and in 
case the average rate does not represent acceptable proximity for the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing at the 
transactions dates; revenues and expenses are translated using the exchange rates of the transactions’ dates.

Revaluation differences are recognized as separate item (Foreign currencies translation differences) in equity. Exchange 
differences resulting from the translation of the net investment in foreign branches, loans and other foreign currency 
instruments designated as hedge of such investment are also recognized in equity section in the same item. Such differences 
are recognized in the income statement when the foreign branch is sold in “Other operating revenues (expenses)”
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E. Financial Assets
The bank classifies its financial assets into the following categories: financial assets held at fair value through profit or 
loss, facilities and debts, financial investments held to maturity and available for sale. Management determines the 
classification of its investments at initial recognition. 

E-1 Financial assets held at fair value through profit or loss
- This category includes financial assets held for trading and those designated at fair value through profit or loss at 

inception.

- Financial instrument is classified as held for trading when it is acquired primarily for the purpose of selling it in the 
near term or if it represents a part of a specific financial instruments portfolio that is managed together and there 
is an evidence of a recent actual transactions that indicates that short-term profits will be obtained, Derivatives are 
categorized as for trading unless they were designated as hedging instruments.

Financial assets are designated at their fair value through profit or loss at inception when:

* This reduces the measurement inconsistency that may arise when the derivative is classified as held for trading at the 
time in which the derivative is embedded in the financial instrument, and is carried at amortized cost with regards 
to loan, facilities for banks and customers and issued debt instruments.

* Some investments in equity instruments are managed and their performance is evaluated on a fair value according 
to investment strategy or risk management and information about such investments is provided internally on that 
basis to the key management personnel. Such investments are to be classified as at fair value through profit or loss.

* Financial instruments such as debt instruments held to maturity include one or more embedded derivatives that 
significantly affect the cash flow. Such instruments are classified as at fair value through profit or loss.

- Profits and losses resulting from changes in fair value of the financial derivatives managed in correlation with financial 
assets or liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss at inception in income statement on the item “Net 
income from financial instruments classified at fair value through profit or loss at inception”.

- Any financial derivative from the group of financial instruments recognized at fair value through profit or loss is not 
reclassified during the retention period or its maturity.

- Any financial instrument transferred from the group of financial instruments is not recognized at fair value through 
profit or loss if such instrument was classified by the bank at initial recognition as an instrument at the fair value 
through profit or loss.

E-2 Facilities and debts 
Facilities and debts are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable amount and they are not quoted in 
an active market with the exception of: 
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- Assets which the bank intends to sell immediately or in the short term are classified as assets held for trading. 

- Assets the bank classified as available for sale at initial recognition. 

- Assets of which the bank will not be able to substantially recover the value of its original investment in them for reasons 
other than credit deterioration. 

E-3 Financial investments held to maturity 
Financial investments held to maturity are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable amount of 
payment and fixed maturity and while the bank management has the intention and the ability to hold to maturity. The 
whole group is to be reclassified as available for sale when the bank sells a significant amount of financial assets held 
to maturity except in cases of necessity.  

E-4 Financial investments available for sale 
Financial investments available for sale are non-derivative financial assets the bank has intention to hold for an 
indefinite period of time, which can be sold in response to the liquidity requirement or due to changes in interest rates, 
exchange rates or equity prices.

 
The following is to be applied with regards to financial assets:

- Regular - way purchase and sale of financial assets is recognized using trade date accounting which is the date the 
bank is committed to purchase or sell the asset and this applies to assets classified at fair value through profit or loss, 
financial investments held to maturity and available for sale. 

- Financial assets not recognized at fair value through profit or loss at inception are initially recognized at fair value plus 
direct attributable transaction costs whereas financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss at inception 
are recognized at fair value only while the transaction costs are charged into the income statement in the Net Trading 
Income caption. 

- Financial assets are derecognized when contractual rights to receive cash flows from the financial asset expires or when 
the bank transfers most of the risks and reward associated with ownership to another party. Liabilities are derecognized 
when discharged either by disposal, cancelation or expiry. 

- Financial investments available for sale and financial assets classified at fair value through profit or loss are subsequently 
carried at fair value while facilities, debts and financial investments held to maturity are subsequently carried at 
amortized cost. 

- Profits and losses resulting from changes in fair value of the financial assets classified at fair value through profit or loss 
are recognized in the income statement in the period in which they occur. Profits and losses resulting from changes in 
fair value of the financial investments available for sale are directly recognized in equity, until the asset is derecognized 
or its value impaired upon which the accumulated profits and losses previously recognized in equity are recognized in 
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the income statement. 

- Returns calculated using amortized costs in addition to foreign currency revaluation gains or losses of monetary assets 
classified as available for sale are recognized in income statement. Dividends on equity instruments classified as 
available for sale are recognized in the income statement when the bank’s right to receive payments is established. 

- The fair value of the quoted investments in active markets is determined according to the current Bid Price. If the 
market for the assets is not active or the current Bid prices are unavailable, the bank determines the fair value using 
one of the valuation techniques. This includes recent arm length transactions, discounted cash flow analysis, options 
pricing models or other valuation techniques commonly used by market participants. If the bank is unable to estimate 
the fair value of equity instruments classified as available for sale it should be valued at cost after net of any impairment 
losses. 

- The bank reclassifies the financial asset within the group of financial instruments available for sale - debts (bonds); 
transferred from the group of financial instruments available for sale to the group of financial assets held to maturity 
- whenever the bank has the intention and ability to hold these assets for the foreseeable future or until maturity. 
Reclassification is carried at fair value on that date, and any profits or losses related to these assets which were 
previously recognized in equity are treated as follows:   

1- In case of reclassified financial assets with fixed maturity, the profits or losses are amortized over the remaining 
life of the investment held to maturity using the effective interest rate. Any difference between the amortized 
cost and maturity amount is to be amortized over the remaining life of the asset using the effective interest rate. 
In case of subsequent impairment in the assets value any profits and losses previously recognized as directly in 
shareholders equity will be recognized in the profits and losses.

2- In case of financial asset with no fixed maturity, the profits or losses remain in shareholders’ equity till the asset 
is sold or disposed only then they are recognized in profits and losses. In case of subsequent impairment in the 
asset’s value any profits or losses previously recognized as directly in equity will be recognized in the profits and 
losses as well.  

- If the bank changed its estimates representing payments and receipts, then the book value of the financial asset (or 
group of financial assets) is adjusted to reflect the actual cash flow and the change in estimates through calculating 
the present value of future cash flow estimated using the effective rate of return of the financial instrument. The 
adjustment is recognized as revenue or expenses in the profits and losses. 

- In all cases, if the bank reclassifies a financial asset as referred to above, and the bank subsequently increased its 
estimates of future cash receipts due to increase of the recoverable amount from these cash receipts, this increase 
is recognized as a adjustment to the effective rate of return from the date of the change in estimates and not as 
adjustment of the asset’s book value on the date of estimates change.    
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F. Offsetting Financial Instruments
- A financial asset and a financial liability shall be offset and the net amount presented in the statement of financial position 

when, and only when, an entity: (a) currently has a legally enforceable right to set off the recognized amounts; and (b) 
intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. 

- Treasury bills with repos and reverse repos agreements are netted in the balance sheet under “Governmental notes”. 

G. Return Income and Expenses:
Return on Murabaha transactions is recognized on accrual basis. Unearned return on Murabaha is recorded and 
proportionately amortized on Murabaha account over the Murabaha period along the year as from the date of cashing of 
funds till the date of repayment. The unearned portion of Murabaha returns is recorded at year-end in “Other Liabilities” 
item on the liabilities side of the balance sheet as it represents deferred revenues; such balance is deducted from the total 
Murabaha transactions presented in the balance sheet. Recognizing the return on Murabaha transactions as revenues is 
ceased when there is uncertain of recovering the value of such returns or the Murabaha principal.

H. Fees and Commission Income
- Fees due for Murabaha, Musharaka, or Mudaraba services are recognized as income when the service is rendered while the 

fees and commissions related to non-performing or impaired debts are suspended and recorded off balance sheet. Then 
they are recognized as income on a cash basis when the return income is recognized according to Note (J-2), as for fees 
which represent an integral part of the effective rate of return of the financial assets, they are recorded as an adjustment 
to the effective rate return. 

- Commitments fees on Murabaha, Musharaka, or Mudaraba are to be suspended if there is a probability that these Murabaha, 
Musharaka, or Mudaraba will be withdrawn on the ground that the bank receives these fees as a compensation for the 
continues intervention to acquire the financial instrument. Then they are recognized as adjustments to the effective rate 
of return on Murabaha, Musharaka, or Mudaraba, when the period of commitment expire without the bank’s issuance of 
Murabaha, Musharaka, or Mudaraba, fees are recognized as revenue after the commitment expiry. 

- Fees on debt instruments held at fair value are recognized in income at the initial recognition. Fees on promoting syndicated 
Murabaha, Musharaka, or Mudaraba are recognized as revenue upon the promotion completion and the bank doesn’t 
retain any portion of the Murabaha, Musharaka, ,Mudaraba or if the bank retains a portion for itself earning the rate of 
actual return that is made available to other participants as well. 

- Fees and commission resulting from negotiations or participating in negotiation on a transaction in favor of other party 
are recognized within the income statement- such as arranging the acquisition of shares or other financial instruments 
and acquiring or selling premises- at the completion of the relevant transaction. The administrative consultations’ fees 
and other services are normally recognized on the basis of distribution over time relative to the service performance period 
whereas the financial planning management fees and custody services fees which are provided for long periods of time are 
recognized over the period during which the service is performed.
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I. Dividends Income
Dividends are recognized in the income statement when there is a right to collect them. 

J. Impairment Of Financial Assets 
J-1 Financial Assets Recorded At Amortized Costs

- On the balance sheet date the bank estimates whether there is any objective evidence that a financial asset or group 
of financial assets measured at amortized cost is impaired. If any such evidence exists.

- A financial asset or a group of financial assets is impaired and impairment losses are incurred if, and only if, there is 
objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the 
asset (a ‘loss event’) and that loss event (or events) has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial 
asset or group of financial assets that can be reliably estimated. 

- The indicators that the bank uses in determining the presence of objective evidence on impairment losses include the 
following: 

- Significant financial difficulty of the issuer or obligor.

- A breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in interest or principal payments. 

- It is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganization.

- Deterioration of the competitive position of the debtor. 

- The bank, for economic or legal reasons relating to the borrower’s financial difficulty, granting to the borrower a 

concession that the bank would not otherwise consider. 

- The impairment of the collateral’s value. 

- The deterioration of the credit situation and positions. 

- Among the objective evidence on the impairment loss of a group of financial assets is the presence of clear data 
indicating a decline that can be measured in the expected cash flow of the group since the initial recognition though it 
is not possible to determine the decline of each individual asset separately, for example, the increase in cases of default 
payment for one or more of the banking products. 

- The bank estimates the period between the loss occurrence and its identification for each specific portfolio. This period 
normally ranges between three to twelve months. 

- Initially, the bank estimates whether there is objective evidence of impairment of each individual asset that has 
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significance of its own whereas assets which do not possess individual significance are assessed at either aggregate or 
individual level. In this regard the following is to be taken into consideration: 

- If the bank identifies the non presence of an objective evidence on the impairment of a financial asset studied 
separately whether it has a significance of its own or not then this asset will be added to the group of financial assets 
with similar credit risk features to be assessed together to estimate impairment according to historic default ratios.

- If the bank identifies the presence of objective evidence on the impairment of a financial asset studied separately then 
this asset is not included in the group of assets which impairment losses are assessed on a consolidated basis. 

- If the aforementioned study resulted in the non presence of impairment losses then the asset is included in the group. 

- The amount of impairment losses provision is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and 
the present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate, 
(excluding future credit losses that have not been incurred). The carrying amount of the asset shall be reduced either 
directly or through use of an allowance account. The amount of the loss shall be recognized in profit or loss.

- If the Murabaha, Mudaraba, Musharaka or investment held to maturity bears a variable interest rate then discount 
rate applied to measure any impairment losses is considered the actual rate of return according to the contract on 
determining the existence of objective evidence on the impairment of the asset. For practical purposes the bank 
may measure impairment losses on the basis of the instrument’s fair value by applying the quoted market rates, 
as for guaranteed financial assets, the present value of the future cash flows expected from the financial asset is to 
be credited besides these flows which result from the implementation and selling the collateral after deducting the 
expenses related thereto. 

- For the purposes of estimating impairment at a gross level financial assets are pooled in groups of similar characteristics 
in terms of credit risk i.e. on the basis of classification process conducted by the bank taking into consideration the 
type of asset, industry, geographical location, type of collateral, position of delays and other related factors. These 
characteristics are related to the assessment of future cash flows of the groups of these assets being an indicator of the 
debtor’s ability to repay the amounts due according to the contractual conditions of the assets under consideration. 

- In estimating the impairment of a group of financial assets on the basis of historical default ratios, future cash flows of 
the group are estimated on the basis of the contractual cash flows of the banks’ assets and the amount of historical 
losses of these assets with credit risk characteristics similar of these assets held by the bank. The amount of losses is 
adjusted on the basis of current disclosed data in a way to reflect the impact of the current conditions which were not 
available in the period over which the amount of historical losses has been identified besides canceling the effects of 
the conditions that existed in the historical periods but no longer exists. 

- The bank seeks that the forecasts of changes in cash flows of a group of assets are reflected in line with these changes 
in relevant reliable data which occur from time to time, for example changes in unemployment rates, real estate 
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prices, repayment’s position and any other factors indicating the changes in the likelihood of loss in the group and its 
amount. The bank is conducting a periodic review of the method and assumptions used to estimate future cash flows.

J-2 Available for Sale Investments
- On the balance sheets date the bank estimates whether there is any objective evidence on the impairment of an 

asset or a group of assets classified within financial investments available for sale. In the case of investments in equity 
instruments classified available for sale it is to be taken into consideration the significant or prolonged  decline in the 
fair value of the instrument below its book value when estimate whether there is  impairment in  the asset or not.

- During the period that starts from 1st of January 2009 the decline shall be considered significant when it reaches 10% 
of the cost of book value. The decline shall be considered prolonged if it continues for more than 9 months. If said 
evidences are available then the accumulated loss should be carried over from shareholders’ equity to be recognized in 
the income statement. The impairment in value recognized in the income statement concerning equity’s instruments 
will not be reversed if a later rise in the fair value occurs. Meanwhile in case the fair value of debt instruments classified 
available for sale rose, and it is found possible to objectively link said rise to an event taking place after recognition of 
impairment in the income statement then the impairment will be reversed through the income statement.

K. Real Estate Investments
  Real estate investments are represented in the land and buildings that the bank owns in order to obtain rent returns or 

capital increase; consequently, they do not include real estate assets through which the bank practices its business or 
those that devolved to bank in fulfillment of debts. The method of accounting for real estate investments is carried out by 
the same accounting method applied to fixed assets.

L. Intangible Assets:
L-1 Goodwill

- Good will represents the rise in the cost of acquisition above the fair value of the share of the bank in net assets, 
including the determinable acquired probable liabilities of the subsidiary or sister company on the date of acquisition 
on the independent financial statement of the bank.

- The goodwill impairment extent is tested annually, provided that the Income Statement would be debited by the value 
of goodwill depreciation at the rate of 20% annually or the value of impairment in its value, whichever is greater. The 
goodwill related to subsidiary and sister companies is included in determining the profits and losses from the sale of 
such companies (Note 2/B).

- The goodwill is distributed over the cash generating units for purposes of testing the impairment. Cash generating 
units are represented in the main sectors of bank (Note 2/C)
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L-2 Computer Software
- Expenses related to development or maintenance of computer software are recognized as expenses on Income 

Statement at the time of incurring them. They are recognized as intangible assets in the expenses correlated directly 
to specific software that are under the control of the Bank from which the generation of economic benefits is expected 
whose cost exceeds more than one year. Direct expenses include the cost of employees on the software team in 
addition to appropriate share in related general expenses.

- It is recognized as development cost in expenses if it leads to increasing or expanding the performance of the computer 
software above its original specifications, and is added to cost of the original software.

- The cost of computer software recognized as assets is depreciated along the year from which it is expected to make 
use of in the manner not exceeding three years.

L-3 Other Intangible Assets
- They are represented in intangible assets apart from goodwill and computer software (for example trademarks, licenses 

and lease contracts’ benefits).

- Other intangible assets are established at the cost of their acquisition and are depreciated by straight line method 
or on the basis of economic benefits expected to be achieved from them along the production life assessed thereto. 
Regarding assets that have no determined production life, they are not depreciated. However, the impairment in their 
value is tested annually and the value of impairment (if any) is charged to the Income Statement.

M. Fixed Assets
- Lands and buildings are mainly represented in head office premises, branches and offices. All fixed assets are disclosed 

at historical cost less depreciation and impairment losses. The historical cost includes expenses directly related to the 
acquisitions of the fixed assets’ items.

- Subsequent expenditures are recognized within the book value of the outstanding asset or as an independent asset, if 
appropriate, this is the case when it is possible to generate future economic benefits to the bank from the concerned asset 
and it is also possible to reliably determine its cost. Any maintenance and fixing expenses during the period in which they 
are incurred are carried over to other operating expenses. 

- Land is not subject to depreciation while depreciation of other fixed assets is calculated by adopting the straight line 
method to spread the cost in such a way to reach scrap value over the useful life of the asset as follows: 
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Buildings and facilities 20 years
Rented real estate improvements According to nature of assets (4-20) years
Office furniture & safes 4 years
Means of transport 4 years
Computers / integrated automated systems 2 years
Fixtures and fittings 20 years

- The residual value and useful lives of the fixed assets are reviewed on the balance sheet date and they are adjusted 
whenever it is necessary. Assets to be depreciated are reviewed for purposes of determining extent of impairment 
when an event or change in conditions occurs suggesting that the book value may not be redeemed. Consequently 
the book value of the asset is reduced immediately to the asset’s redemption value in case increasing the book value 
over the redeemable value. 

- The redemption value represents the net selling value of the asset or its utilization value whichever is greater. Gains 
and losses from the disposal of fixed assets are defined by comparing the net receipts at book value. Gains (losses) are 
included within other operating income (expenses) in the income statement.

- 
N. Non Financial Assets Impairment

- Assets which do not have fixed useful lives are not subject to amortization, except for goodwill, and its impairment 
is assessed annually. Impairment of assets which are amortized is studied whenever there are events or changes in 
conditions suggesting that the book value may not be recoverable. 

- The impairment loss is then recognized and the asset’s value has to be reduced by the excess in the asset’s book value 
over its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s or cash-generating unit’s fair value less 
costs to sell and its value in use. For purposes of estimating impairment, the asset should join the smallest possible 
currency generating unit. Non financial assets being impaired are to be reviewed to study reversal of impairment or 
allocation of impairment provision in the income statement on the date of preparing the financial statements.  

O. Leases 
- Financial lease is accounted for according to law 95 for the year 1995 on leasing:
a) If the lease contract gives the lessee the right to purchase the asset on a fixed date for a fixed amount and the contract’s 

period represents at least 75% of the asset’s expected useful life.
b) The present value of total rental payments is not less than 90% of the asset value. 
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- Other leasing contracts are considered operational leasing ones. 

O-1 Rentals 
- With regard to financial lease contracts, the lease cost including the maintenance cost of leased assets is recognized 

within the expenses in the income statement for the period in which it was incurred. If the bank decides to exercise the 
right of purchasing  leased assets then the cost of purchasing right is capitalized being one of the fixed assets and is 
amortized over the expected remaining  useful life of the asset in the same way applied on similar assets. 

- Payments under the account of operating lease minus any discounts that were obtained from the lessor are recognized 
among expenses on the Income Statement by the straight line method along the period of the contract.

O-2 Lease Out
- Regarding assets leased out, they are recorded among the fixed assets in the balance sheet and are depreciated along 

the useful life expected for this asset by the same method adopted for similar assets. Lease revenues are recognized 
on basis of the rate of return on lease contract in addition to a sum equivalent to the cost of depreciation for the year.

- The difference between the revenue of the lease recognized on the Income Statement and the total accounts of leasing 
customers is charged to the balance sheet until the lease contract expires, where it is used for getting with the net book 
value of the leased out asset. The maintenance expenses and the security deposit are charged to the Income Statement 
when it bears them to the extent that is not borne by the lessee. When there are objective evidences that the Bank 
will not be able to collect all balances of leasing debtors, they are reduced to the value whose redemption is expected.

- Regarding operating lease assets, they appear among the fixed assets on the balance sheet and are depreciated along 
the production life expected for the asset by the same method adopted with similar assets. The lease revenue is 
established minus any discounts granted to the lessee by straight line method along the contract duration.

P. Cash And Cash Equivalent
- The cash flow statement shows cash and cash equivalent balances, not exceeding three months from the date of 

acquisition. The above include cash, balances at Central Bank of Egypt other than required reserve ratio, due from banks 
and treasury bills and other governmental notes. 

Q. Other Provisions
- The restructuring costs and legal claims’ provision is recognized when there is a legal obligation or a present indicative due 

to previous events while it is also very likely that the situation shall require the utilization of the bank’s resources to settle 
said liabilities with the presence of the possibility of providing a reliable estimation of the liability’s value. 
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- When there are similar liabilities the cash outflow that can be used in settlement is to be identified taking into consideration 
this set of liabilities. The provision should be recognized even if there is a small possibility in the presence of cash outflow 
regarding an item from within this set. 

- Provisions are reversed (refunded) within the item of other operating income (expenses).

- The present value of payments estimated as settlement for obligations for which a term is fixed to settle one year from the 
date of the balance sheet is measured by using appropriate rate for the same obligation settlement term without being 
affected by the prevailing tax rate the matter that reflects the time value of money ,if the term is less than one year, the 
estimated value of the obligation is calculated, unless its effect is substantial in which case it is considered at the present 
value.

R. Financial Collateral Contracts
- Financial collateral contracts are those contracts that are issued by the bank as collateral for Murabaha, Musharaka and 

Mudaraba transactions or overdrafts granted to its customers from other entities. They require the bank to carry out 
specific settlements to compensate their beneficiary for the loss that he incurred as a result of the default of the debtor 
in settling them to banks, financial institution and other entities on behalf of bank’s customers.

- The fair value is primarily recognized on the financial statement on the date of granting the collateral, which may reflect 
the charges of collateral. Subsequently, the obligation of the bank by virtue of the collateral is measured on basis of the 
first measurement amount minus the amortization calculated to recognize the collateral or the best forecast for the 
payments required to settle any financial obligation resulting from the financial collateral on the experience in similar 
transactions and historical losses supported by judgment of management.

- Any increase in the liabilities resulting from the financial collateral is recognized in the income statement among the item 
“Other Operating Revenues (Expenses)”

S. Income Taxes 
- The income taxes on the year’s profits or losses include the tax of the current year and the deferred tax and they are 

recognized in the income statement with the exception of the income tax on the items of shareholder’s equity which is 
immediately recognized within equity. 

- The income tax is recognized on the basis of the net profit subject to tax through the application tax rates prevailing at 
the date of preparing the balance sheet in addition to the tax adjustments related to previous years. 

- Deferred taxes arising from temporary timing differences between the book value of assets and liabilities according to 
accounting bases and their values according to tax rules are to be recognized. So the value of the deferred tax is defined 
according to the method expected to realize or adjusted the value of assets and liabilities by applying the tax rates at the 
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date of preparing the balance sheet. 

- The deferred tax assets are recognized when there is likelihood to achieve taxable profits in the future through which this 
asset can be made use of. The value of deferred tax assets is reduced by the portion which will not realize the expected 
taxable benefit in the coming years whereas in case of the increase in expected taxable benefits the deferred tax assets 
should be increased within the limit of previous reduction. 

T. Borrowing
Facilities which the bank obtains are recognized at inception at fair value less the cost of obtaining the facilities. Later 
the facilities are measured by amortized cost. The difference between net proceeds and the amount to be paid over the 
borrowing period using the rate of actual return is to be charged to the income statement. 

U. Capital
U-1 Cost Of Capital 

The issuance expenses which are directly related to the issuance of new shares or shares against acquiring an entity or 
issuance of options are to be presented as debited from the shareholders’ equity in net proceeds after taxes. 

U-2 Dividends 
Dividends are charged to shareholders’ equity in the period the shareholders general assembly approves these dividends 
and they include the employees’ share in profits and the remuneration of the board of directors established by the 
statue of association of the bank and the law.  

U-3 Treasury Shares
If the bank purchases capital shares, the purchase sum is debited to total equity, where they represent the cost of 
treasury shares until they are revoked. If such shares are sold or reissued in a subsequent period, all amounts received 
are credited to equity.

V. Trust Activities
The bank does not practice custody activities. If it practices this activity the matter that may give rise to the acquiring or 
managing assets of third party, the assets and earnings resulting from them shall be excluded from the financial statements 
of the bank, as they are not assets of bank.

W. Comparative Figures
Comparative figures are reclassified whenever it is necessary to conform to the changes in the adopted presentation of 
the current year.
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
- The bank is exposed to a variety of financial risks while it practices its business and activities; Acceptance of risks is 

considered the basis of financial business. Some of the risks or a set of risks combined together are to be analyzed 
evaluated and managed. The bank targets at achieving the adequate balance between the risk and return as well as 
minimizing possible negative impacts on its financial performance, The most important types of risks are credit risk, 
market risk, liquidity risk and other operating risks, Market risk includes the risks of foreign exchange rates, interest rates 
and the other rate risks. 

- The bank has established risk management policies to define, analyze, set the limits of and control risk. Controlling risks 
and complying with limits are done through a variety of reliable methods and updated information systems plans. The 
bank conducts periodical reviews and amendments of the risk management policies and plans so as to reflect changes in 
the markets, products and services besides the best modern applications as well. 

- Risk management is conducted through risk department in the light of policies approved by the board of directors; Risk 
department defines, assesses and hedges against the financial risks in close cooperation with the different operating units 
of the bank. The board of directors provides written principles for risk management as a whole in addition to written policies 
which cover defined risk areas such as credit risk, foreign exchange risk, interest- rate risks and the use of derivatives and 
non-derivatives financial instruments, Also, risk department is responsible for the periodic review of risk management and 
control environment in an independent way. 

A. Credit risk
The bank is exposed to credit risk which is the risk of failure of one party to fulfill its obligations. Credit risk is considered 
the most important among the bank’s risks thus the management carefully manages the exposure to this risk. Credit risk 
is mainly represented in lending business and activities which result in extending Murabaha, Musharaka, or Mudaraba 
and investment activities and thus leading to the inclusion of debt instruments in the bank’s assets. Credit risk is also 
found in off- balance sheet financial instruments such as Murabaha, Musharaka, or Mudaraba commitments. The credit 
risk management team in the department conducts all operation related to management and controls of the credit risk 
meanwhile the team of management periodically reports to the board of directors, senior management as well as heads 
of business units. 

A-1 Measuring Credit Risk 

Murabaha, Musharaka, or Mudaraba for Customers 
To measure credit risk related to Murabaha, Musharaka, or Mudaraba extended to banks and customers the bank 
examines the following three components: 

- Probability of default of the customer or others in fulfilling their contractual obligations. 

- The current position and the likely expected future development from which the bank can conclude the balance 
exposed to default (Exposure at default). 
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- Loss given default.

The daily activities of the bank’s business involves the above measures for credit risk which reflect the expected loss 
(The Expected Loss Model) required by the Basel Committee on Banking Supervision. The operating measures may 
interfere with the impairment charge according to the Egyptian Accounting Standard no. (26), which depends on 
losses realized at the balance sheet’s date (realized losses models) and not on expected losses (disclosure A/3). 

The bank estimates the probability of default at the level of every customer by applying internal rating methods to 
classify the creditworthiness in details of the different categories of customers. These internal methods for evaluation 
have been developed and the statistical analysis are to be taken into account together with the personal discretion 
reasoning of credit officials so as to reach the adequate creditworthiness classification. The bank’s customers are 
divided into four categories for purposes of creditworthiness classification. The structure of creditworthiness adopted 
by the bank as illustrated in the following table reflects the extent of the probability of default of each category which 
mainly means that credit positions move between said categories according to change in the assessment of the extent 
of default probability. The assessment methods are reviewed and developed whenever it is necessary. The bank also 
periodically assesses the performance of the creditworthiness classification methods and the extent of their capacity 
on prediction of default cases. 

The bank’s internal classifications’ categories
Classification The classification’s meaning

1 Performing debts
2 Regular watching
3 Watch list
4 Non performing debts

The position exposed to default depends on the amounts, the bank expects to be outstanding when the default takes 
place, for example, as for a loan this position is the nominal value while for commitments the bank enlists all already 
drawn amounts besides these amounts expected to be withdrawn till the date of default, if it happens. 

The given or severe loss each represents the bank’s expectations of the loss extent when claiming repayment of debt 
if the default occurs. This is expressed by the percentage of loss to the debt; this certainly differs in accordance with 
category of the debtor, the claim’s priority and extent of the provision of guarantees or other methods for securing 
the credit. 

Debt instruments, treasury bills and other bills
As for debt instruments and bills, the bank adopts external ratings such as Standard and Poor’s or similar ratings in 
order to manage credit risk. If such assessments are not available then the bank applies methods similar to those 
applied on credit customers. Investment in securities and governmental papers are considered a method of obtaining 
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a better credit quality and at the same time provide an available source to meet financing requirements. 

A-2 Risk mitigation and evasion policies 
The bank manages, mitigates and controls credit risk concentration at the debtor, groups, industries and countries 
level. 

The bank also manages acceptable credit risk levels by setting limits for the risk to be accepted at the level of each 
borrower or a group of borrowers, and  at the level of economic activities and geographical sectors. These risks are 
continuously monitored and are subject to annual or frequent reviews or more if necessary. Lines of credit risks are 
approved quarterly at the level of borrower, group, producer, sector and country by the board of directors

- Lines of credit for  any borrower including banks are divided into sub-lines which include amounts in and off the 
balance sheet and daily risk line related to trading items such as forward foreign exchange contracts. Actual amounts 
are compared daily with said lines. 

- Credit risk exposure is also managed through periodic analysis of the borrower and possible borrower’s ability on 
fulfilling their obligations and also by amending the lending lines whenever appropriate.  

The following are some means of mitigating risk

Collaterals
The bank lays down a number of policies and controls to mitigate credit risk. Among the methods is to obtain 
collaterals against the granted funds. The bank sets guiding rules for defined types of acceptable collaterals. Main 
types of collaterals to Murabaha, Musharka and Mudaraba are:   
Real estate mortgage. 
Mortgage of business assets such as machinery and goods. 
Mortgage of financial instruments such as debt and equity instruments. 

Usually corporate lending is for a longer term and secured whereas credit facilities granted to individuals are unsecured. 
To reduce credit loss to its minimum, the bank seeks to get additional collaterals from the concerned parties as soon 
as indicators of impairment of Murabaha, Musharka and Mudaraba or facility appear. 

Collaterals taken as a security for assets other than Murabaha, Musharka and Mudaraba are determined according 
to the nature of the instrument and usually debt instruments and treasury bills are unsecured, with the exception of 
asset-backed securities and similar instruments which are secured by a portfolio of financial instruments. 

The settlement risk arises in situations in which payment is by cash, equity instruments, or other securities or against 
expecting the obtainment of cash, equity instrument or other securities. Daily settlement limits are laid down for 
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each other party to back up the consolidated settlement risk resulting from the transactions of the bank in any day.

Master netting arrangements
The Bank mitigates credit risk through entering into master liquidation agreements with parties that represent a 
significant portion of transactions. Master liquidation agreements do not generally give rise to netting between the 
assets and liabilities appearing on the balance sheet because the settlement is usually carried out on an aggregate 
basis. However credit risk accompanying contracts that are in favor of the Bank are reduced through master liquidation 
agreements in view of the fact that if there is default, all amounts with the other party are terminated and settled by 
netting. It is possible for the amount of exposure of the Bank to credit risk resulting from derivatives’ instruments that 
are subject to master liquidation agreement to change in a short period as it is affected by each transaction that is 
governed by such agreements.

Credit related commitments 
The main purpose of credit related commitments is to ensure the availability of funds to the customer at demand. 
Guarantees and stand by letters of credit also carry the same credit risk related to Murabaha, Musharka and Mudaraba. 
Documentary and commercial letters of credit issued by the bank on behalf of its customer to grant a third party the 
right to withdraw from the bank within the limit of certain amounts and according to defined terms and conditions 
usually guaranteed by goods that are shipped and consequently carry a lesser degree of risk than Murabaha, Musharka 
and Mudaraba. 

Commitments for granting credit represent the unutilized part of the authorized limit to grant Murabaha, Musharka 
and Mudaraba, guarantees or documentary letters of credit. The bank is exposed to a potential loss which is equal 
to the amount equal to the total of unutilized commitments as concerning credit risk arising from credit granting 
commitments. However, the amount of loss which is likely to occur is actually below the unutilized commitments 
considering that most of the credit granting commitments represents potential liabilities of customers who have defined 
credit terms. The bank monitors the duration till maturity date of credit commitments as long term commitments 
usually carry a higher degree of credit risk compared to short term commitments.

A-3 Impairment and provisions policies 
The internal systems of assessment mentioned in (note A-1) focuses to a large degree on the planning of credit quality 
right from the starting point of lending  and investment activities, other than that the impairment losses incurred at 
the balance sheet’s date are only recognized for purposes of preparing financial reports based on objective evidence 
that refers to impairment according to what is mentioned in the following disclosure. In spite of implementation 
different methods, we notice that there is not any material differences between the credit losses carried on the 
financial statements and the expected loss resulted from using the expected loss module used on balance sheet date 
for purposes of the Central Bank of Egypt’s rules (note A - 4).   
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The impairment loss provision included in the balance sheet at the end of the fiscal year is derived from the four 
internal assessment categories. The following table shows the percentage to items within the balance sheet related  
to Murabaha, Musharka and Mudaraba and the impairment associated with them for each of the bank’s internal 
assessment categories:  

Internal assessment tools helps management to define whether there is objective evidence of impairment according 
to the Egyptian Accounting Standard no. 26 and depending on the following indicators the bank has defined: 

- Great financial difficulties facing the borrower or debtor. 
- Breach of Murabaha, Musharka and Mudaraba agreements and terms such as default in payment. 
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- Expectation of the debtor’s bankruptcy, liquidation claim or restructuring the finance granted.
- Deterioration of the competitive position of the debtor. 
- For economic or legal reasons related to the borrower’s financial difficulties the bank is obliged to grant him privileges 

and concessions which the bank may not approve of granting in normal circumstances. 
- Impairment of the collateral’s value. 
- Deterioration of the credit position. 

The bank’s policies require review of all financial assets that exceed a defined relative importance at least annually 
or more if necessary. The impairment charge to accounts that have been assessed on an individual basis is to be 
defined by evaluating the loss realized at the balance sheet’s date on each individual case separately and is to be 
applied individually on all accounts that have relative importance, the evaluation usually includes the outstanding 
collateral, security with a reconfirmation of the possibility to realize the collateral as well as the expected collections 
from these accounts. 

The impairment loss provision is formed on basis of a group of homogeneous assets by using the available historical 
expertise, personal discretion and statistical methods.

A-4 The General Model For Measuring Banking Risks
In addition to the four creditworthiness classification categories shown in (note A-1), the management also prepares 
classifications in the form of more detailed subgroups which cope with the requirements of the Central Bank of 
Egypt. Assets exposed to credit risk are classified in these subgroups according to detailed rules and terms which 
depend to a great extent on customer related information, his business and activities, financial position and the 
extent of his regularity in payment. 

The bank calculates the provisions required for the impairment of these assets exposed to credit risk including credit 
related commitments on the basis of defined ratios set by the Central Bank of Egypt. In case of the increase in the 
impairment loss provision, required according to the Central Bank of Egypt’s rules, over that required for purposes 
of preparing the financial statements according to Egyptian accounting standards, the general banking risks reserve 
is to be set aside within the shareholders’ equity debited to retained earnings within this increase. This reserve is 
periodically adjusted by increase or decrease as to be equaled to the amount of increase between the two provisions. 
And this reserve is un-distributable. As note No. (33-A) illustrates the movement on the general bank risk reserve 
during the financial year.

The following is an indication of corporate credit worthiness categories according to internal assessment bases 
compared to the assessment bases of The Central Bank of Egypt and the required provision ratios for the impairment 
of assets exposed to credit risk: 
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Central Bank 
Of Egypt 

Classification

The Classification’s 
Meaning

Provision’s 
Ratio 

Required

Internal 
Classification

Meaning of Internal 
Classification

1 Low risks Zero 1 Performing loans
2 Average risks 1% 1 Performing loans
3 Satisfactory risks 1% 1 Performing loans
4 Reasonable risks 2% 1 Performing loans
5 Acceptable risks 2% 1 Performing loans
6 Marginally acceptable risks 3% 2 Regular follow up 
7 Watch List 5% 3 Special follow up 
8 Sub Standard 20% 4 Non performing loans 
9 Doubtful 50% 4 Non performing loans 
10 Bad debt 100% 4 Non performing loans 

A-5 Maximum limit for credit risk before collaterals

Credit Risk exposures in the Balance Sheet (net)
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Credit risk exposures of off-balance sheet items (net)

- The previous table represents the maximum limit of exposure as at 31 December 2012 without taking into consideration 
any financial guarantees. As for the balance sheet items, the listed amounts depend on the net book value presented 
in the balance sheet. 

- As illustrated in the previous table 47% of the maximum Limit exposed to credit risk arises from (Murabaha, 
Musharaka and Mudaraba) to customers against 47% at the end of 31 December 2011 whereas investments in the 
debt instruments represent 19% against 20% as at 31 December 2011. 

- The management has confidence in its abilities to continue of controlling and maintaining the minimum limit of 
credit risk resulted from Murabaha, Musharka and Mudaraba and debt instruments portfolios on the basis of the 
following: 

- 90 % of (Murabaha, Musharaka and Mudaraba) portfolio is classified in the two higher categories of the internal 
assessment against 90% at the end of the 31 December 2011. 

- 91% of (Murabaha, Musharaka and Mudaraba) portfolio is free from any delays or impairment indicators against      
87 % as at 31 December 2011. 

- Murabaha, Musharaka and Mudaraba that have been assessed on an individual basis reach L.E 674 393 203 against 
LE 652 910 637 as at 31 December 2011. Impairment that is less than 92 % was found in them, corresponding to 
80% as at 31 December 2011.

- More than 99 % as at 31 December 2012 against 99 % at as 31 December 2011, of the investments in debt 
instruments and treasury bills represents debt instruments on the Egyptian government
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A-6 Murabaha, Musharka and Mudaraba transaction
The following is the position of Murabaha, Musharka and Mudaraba transaction balances regarding credit worthiness:  
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- The total of Murabaha, Musharka and Mudaraba transaction impairment charge reached L.E 651 941 870 against L.E 
548 817 751 as at 31 December 2011 including L.E 621 282 816 against L.E 517 296 395 at 31 December 2011 which 
represents the impairment of individual Murabaha, Musharka and Mudaraba transaction and the rest amounting to  
L.E 30 659 054 represent the impairment charge on a group basis of the credit portfolio 

The Bank’s Murabaha, Musharka and Mudaraba transaction portfolio increased by 15.6 % during the year as a result 
of the expansion in lending activities. The bank concentrates on dealing with big corporations, banks or individual 
enjoying credit solvency.

Murabaha, Musharaka and Mudaraba with no past dues and not subject to impairment:

The creditworthiness of Murabaha, Musharka and Mudaraba transaction portfolio with no delays or impairment is 
evaluated with reference to the internal evaluation used by the bank

Murabaha and Musharaka and Mudaraba for banks and retail at 31 December 2012 (net):

- The guaranteed Murabaha, Musharka and Mudaraba are not considered subjected to impairment for the non performing categories after 
taking into consideration the probability of collecting this guarantees.

L.E

L.E
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- Murabaha, Musharka and Mudaraba transaction with past dues but are not subject to impairment:

These are Murabaha, Musharka and Mudaraba  and advances with delays up to 90 days but are not subject to 
impairment unless there is other information to the contrary a loan and advances to customers with delays but not 
subject to impairment and the fair value of their collaterals are represented in the following: 

L.E
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- At initial recognition of Murabaha, Musharka and Mudaraba transaction, the fair value of collaterals is evaluated on the 
basis of the same financial assets evaluation methods used, and in subsequent period to the fair value will be updated 
by the market prices or the similar assets’ prices.

L.E
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Murabaha, Musharka and Mudaraba transaction subject to impairment on an individual basis
Murabaha, Musharka and Mudaraba transaction to customers

The balance of Murabaha, Musharka and Mudaraba transaction which are subject to impairment on an individual 
basis, before taking into consideration the cash flow from collaterals, amounted to L.E 674 393 203 against 
L.E. 652 910 637 as at 31 December 2011.

Below is the analysis of the total value of Murabaha, Musharka and Mudaraba transaction subject to impairment on 
individual basis including the fair value of collaterals the bank has obtained against these Murabaha, Musharka and 
Mudaraba transactions.
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A-7 Debt instruments, treasury bills and other governmental notes

The following table represents an analysis of debt instruments, treasury bills and other governmental notes according 

to evaluation agencies at the end of the financial period according to the rating of Standard & Poor’s and its equivalents:

A-8 Acquisition Of Collaterals
During the current year, the bank obtained legal title of assets by acquiring some collateral as follows:

Nature of the assets           Book value

Land 20 000 000

Units 41 550 853

The acquired assets are classified within Other Assets caption in the balance sheet and are sold whenever possible. 

A-9 Concentration Of Financial Assets’ Risks Exposed To Credit Risk

Geographical segments

The following table represents an analysis of the bank’s most important boundaries of credit risk at book value, Risks 
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distributed on geographical segments in accordance with areas related to the bank customers.

L.E
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- Business Segments
The following represents an analysis of the most important boundaries of credit risk at book value, distributed according to the 
customers’ business and activities.
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B. Market Risk
The bank is exposed to market risk represented in volatility in fair value or in future cash flows resulted from changes 
in market prices. The market risk is due to the open positions of interest rates, currency rates and the products of 
shareholders’ equity as each of them is exposed to the market’s public and private movements as well as to the changes 
in the sensitivity level of market prices or rates such as interest rates, foreign exchange rates and the prices of equity 
instruments. The bank separates the level of its exposure to market risk to portfolios either held for trading or portfolios 
held for a non-trading purpose. 

The trading portfolios include these positions resulting from the bank’s direct dealing with customers or with the market. 
Whereas, the portfolios held for a non-trading purpose, arise mainly from management of the return rate of assets 
and liabilities related to retail transactions. These portfolios include the foreign exchange risks and shareholders’ equity 
instruments resulted from investments held to maturity and available for sale. 

B-1 Methods of Measuring Market Risk
The following are the most important measurement methods used to control the market risk:

Value at Risk 
The bank applies a “value at risk” for trading and non trading portfolios to estimate the market risk of positions and 
the maximum of expected loss based on a number of assumptions for the various changes of market conditions. The 
board of directors sets limits for “value at risk” that may be classified separately by the bank for trading or non-trading 
portfolios.

Value at risk is a statistical expectation of the potential loss of the current portfolio due to market’s adverse moves. 
It is an expression of the maximum value the bank can lose using a defined confidence factor (98%) consequently 
there is a statistical probability of (2%) that the actual loss may be greater than the expected value at risk. The value 
at risk model assumes a defined retention period (ten days) before closing of the open positions. It also assumes that 
the market movement during the retention period will follow the same pattern of movement that occurred during the 
previous 10 days. The bank should assess the past movement based on the data of the previous five years and applies 
these historical changes in rates, prices and indicators directly on current positions, a method known as historical 
simulation. Actual outputs should also be monitored and controlled on a regular basis to measure the appropriateness 
of assumptions and factors used to calculate value at risk. 

The use of this approach does not prevent losses outside these limits in the event of more significant market movement 
as value at risk constitutes an integral part of bank’s market risk control, the value at risk limits are established by the 
board annually for all trading and non trading portfolio operations and allocated to business units, the actual values at 
risk are compared with limits put by the bank. 

The quality of value at risk model is controlled on a continuous basis through tests that reinforce the results of value at risk 
of the trading portfolio and the results of such tests are usually reported to senior management and board of directors. 
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Stress testing:
Stress testing provides indication of the expected loss that may arise from sharp adverse circumstances. Stress testing 
are designed to match the business using standard analysis for specific scenarios. The stress testing carried out by the 
bank market risk department includes: risk factor stress testing, where sharp movements are applied to each risk category 
and emerging market stress test, as emerging market are subject to sharp movements; and subject to special stress test 
including possible stress events affecting specific positions or regions- for example the stress outcome to a region applying 
a free currency rate.

The results of the stress testing are reviewed by top management and board of directors.

B-2 Summary Of Values At Risk

Total Value at risk according to kind of risk:

Total Value at risk for non-trading portfolio according to kind of Risk:

The Bank is not exposed to the rate of return risk since it distributes variable returns to customers related to the revenues 
and returns achieved quarterly. The rise in the value at risk, especially the rate of return is related to the rise in the sensitivity 
of the rate of return in global financial markets.
The Previous three results for the value at risk were calculated independently of the concerned positions and historical 
movements of markets. The total value at risk for the trading and non-trading does not constitute the value exposed to risk 
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at the bank in view of the correlation between the kinds of risks and the kinds of portfolios, and the various impact entailing.

B-3 The Risk of Fluctuations in Foreign Exchange Rates
The bank is exposed to the risk of fluctuations in foreign exchange rates in its financial position and cash flows. The board 
of directors has set limits of foreign currencies in total value for each position at the end of the day and also intraday which 
are monitored on the spot. The following table summarizes the extent of the bank’s exposure to fluctuations in exchange 
rates risk at the end of the fiscal year. The said table includes the book value of financial instruments broken down into its 
component currencies:  

Equivalent in L.E
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B-4 Return Rate Risk 
- The bank is exposed to the impact of fluctuations in the levels of return rate that are prevailing in the market which 

is the cash flow risk of return rate represented in the volatility of future cash flow of a financial instrument due to 
changes in the return rate of the instrument. Whereas the return rate’s fair value risk is the risk of fluctuations in the 
value of the financial instrument due to changes in return rates in the market. The return margin may rise due to these 
changes but still the profit may decrease if unexpected movements occur. The board of directors sets limits for the 
level of difference in the re-pricing of return rate which the bank can maintain and this is daily monitored by treasury 
department in the bank.

- The following table summarizes the extent of the bank’s exposure to the risk of fluctuations in return rates which 
includes the book value of financial instruments distributed on the basis of the price of re-pricing dates or maturity 
dates whichever is sooner:
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C. Liquidity Risk
Liquidity risk represents the risk that the bank faces difficulties in meeting its financial commitments when they fall due 
and replace funds when they are withdrawn. This may result in failure in fulfilling the bank obligation to repay to the 
depositors and fulfilling leading commitments.  

- Liquidity risk management process:
The banks̀ liquidity management process carried out by the bank’s assets and liabilities department includes: 

- Daily funding are managed by monitoring future cash expenditure to ensure that all requirements can be fulfilled when 
due. This includes availability of liquidity as they due or to be lent to customers. To ensure that the bank reaches its 
objective the bank maintains an active presence in global money markets.

- The bank maintains a portfolio of highly marketable assets that assumed to be easily liquidated in the event of an 
unforeseen interruption of cash flow.

- Monitoring liquidity ratios in relation with internal requirements and Central Bank of Egypt requirements.
- Managing  concentrating and declaring facilities’ maturities.

For monitoring and reporting purposes, the bank calculates the expected cash flows for the next day, week and month 
which are the main periods for liquidity management.
The starting point to calculate these expectations is analyzing the financial liabilities dues and expected financial assets 
collections.
Assets and liabilities department monitors the mismatch between medium term assets, the level and nature of unused 
Murabaha, Musharka and Mudaraba limits and the effect of contingent liabilities such as letters of guarantees and letters 
of credit.

- Financing approach 
Sources of liquidity are regularly reviewed by a separate team in the Assets and Liabilities department in order to maintain 
a wide diversification in currency, geographical, sources, products and maturities. 

- Non- Derivative Cash flows:
- The following table represents the cash flows paid by the bank by the non- derivative financial liabilities method distributed 

on basis of remaining of contractual maturities on the date of the balance sheet. The amounts mentioned in the table 
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represent the contractual undiscounted cash flows. The bank manages liquidity risk on basis of expected undiscounted 
cash flows and not the contractual undiscounted cash flows:

L.E

- The assets available to meet all liabilities and to cover commitments related to murabha, musharaka and mudaraba 
transactions include cash, balances with central banks, balances with banks, treasury bills and other governmental securities 
and murabha, musharaka and mudaraba transactions for banks and customers. The term of percentage of murabha, 
musharaka and mudaraba transactions for customers that mature within one year in extended during the ordinary activity 
of the bank. In addition, there is a pledge for some debt instruments, treasury bills and other governmental securities to 

L.E
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guarantee the liabilities. The bank has the ability to face the unexpected net cash flows through the sale of securities and 
finding other funding source.

- Off-Balance Sheet Items (Gross):

L.E
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D. The Fair Value Of Financial Assets And Liabilities
D-1 Financial instruments measured at fair value using Evaluation Methods

None of the items of financial assets and liabilities were evaluated using evaluation methods during the financial year 
ended 31 December 2012.

D-2 Financial Instruments Not Measured At Fair Value 
The following table summarizes the present value and the fair value of financial assets and liabilities which are not 
presented in the bank’s balance sheet at fair value. 

L.E
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- Due from banks
The value of deposits and overnight deposits with variable return represents their present value. The fair  value expected 
for deposits with variable return is forecasted according to the discounted cash flows using the rate of return prevailing 
in credit risk and similar maturity debts financial markets.

- Investment Operations with Banks
The investment operations with banks are represented in facilities other than deposits with banks. The expected fair 
value of investment operations with banks represents the discounted value of future expected cash inflows. Cash flows 
are discounted using the present rate of return in the market to determine the fair value.

- Murabaha, Musharka & Mudaraba Transactions for Customers
They are represented in net Murabaha, Musharka and Mudaraba transactions after deducting the provision for 
impairment losses. The fair value expected from Murabaha, Musharka and Mudaraba transactions for customers 
represent the discounted value of expected cash inflows. Cash flows are discounted using the present rate of return in 
market to determine the fair value.

- Investment in Securities 
Investment in Securities in the previous table includes only assets that bear a return for held to maturity, where 
available for sale assets are evaluated at fair value apart from equity instruments which the bank could not assess their 
fair value at a reliable degree. The fair value of held to maturity financial assets in determined according to market 
prices or prices obtained from brokers. If such data are not available, the fair value is assessed using the prices of capital 
markets for traded securities that enjoy similar credit characteristics, maturity date and rates.

- Due to other banks and customers
The fair value assessed for deposits with no fixed maturity date which included deposits with no return represents the 
amount that will be paid at request. The fair value of deposits that bear fixed return and other finances that are not 
traded in active markets are determined according to discounted cash flows using the rate of return on new debts of 
similar maturity. 

E. Capital Management 
The bank’s objectives, when managing capital that includes other elements besides the shareholders’ equity disclosed in 
the balance sheet, are represented in the following: 

- Compliance with the capital’s legal requirements in The Arab Republic of Egypt. And in countries in which the branches 
of bank operate. 

- Protection of the bank’s ability on continuity and enabling it to continue in generating return to shareholders and 
other parties that deals with the bank. 



83

- Maintenance of a sound strong capital base that supports the growth of business. 

Capital adequacy and capital utilizations according to the requirements of regulators (the Central Bank of Egypt in Egypt) 
are reviewed and monitored daily by the bank’s management through models which depend on the guidelines of Basel 
Committee for Banking Supervision. Required data are submitted to the Central Bank of Egypt on a quarterly basis. 
Central Bank of Egypt requires the following from the bank: 

- Maintaining an amount of L.E 500 million as a minimum limit of issued and paid in capital. 
- Maintaining a percentage between capital items and risk-weighted assets and contingent liabilities equals to or exceeds 

10%.
The branches of bank that operate outside the Arab Republic of Egypt are subject to the rules of supervision that 
regulate the banking business in countries in which they operate. 

- The numerator of the capital adequacy ratio consists of the following two tiers:

Tier One: Represented in basic capital which consists of paid in capital (after discounting the book value of treasury 
shares), retained profits and reserves due to profit appropriation with the exception of general banking risk reserve, any 
goodwill previously recognized or any carried over losses should be subtracted from it. 

Tier Two: Represented in supplementary capital which consists of what is equivalent to the general risks provision 
according to creditworthiness bases issued by the Central Bank Of Egypt and not exceeding 1.25% of the total risk 
weighted assets and contingent liabilities, subordinated deposits which exceed 5 years (with amortization of 20%of 
their value each year of the last five years of their term) and 45% of the increase between fair value and book value of 
financial investments available for sale, held to maturity and associates. 

- When calculating the total numerator of the capital adequacy ratio it should be taken into consideration that the 
supplementary capital doesn’t exceed in any way the basic capital and that subordinated deposits don’t exceed half 
of the basic capital. 

- The weighting of assets by risks ranges between zero up to 100% classified in accordance with the nature of the 
debit side of each asset so as to reflect the related credit risks, while taking into consideration cash collaterals. Same 
treatment is applied on off-balance amounts after making adjustments to reflect the contingent nature and probable 
losses of these amounts. 

- The bank has complied with all local capital requirements during the last two years. The following table summarizes 
the components of basic and supplementary capital and capital adequacy ratios as at the ending year.  
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*The Capital adequacy standard was added according to what was sent to the Central Bank of Egypt in the data of the quarterly plan.

4. THE SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS
The bank applies estimates and assumptions which affect the amounts of assets and liabilities to be disclosed during the 
following financial year. Estimates and assumptions are continuously assessed on the basis of historical expertise and 
other factors as well, including the expectations of future events which are considered to be logical or reasonable in the 
light of available information and surrounding circumstances.
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A. Impairment Losses on Murabaha, Musharaka & Mudaraba Transactions
The bank reviews (Murabaha, Musharaka & Mudaraba Transactions) portfolio on at least a quarterly basis to assess 
impairment. The bank applies personal judgment when deciding the necessity of posting the impairment charges to 
the income statement so as to know if there is any reliable data which refer to the existence of a measurable decline 
in the expected future cash flows of (Murabaha, Musharaka & Mudaraba Transactions) portfolio even before being 
acquainted with the decline at the level of each Murabaha, Musharaka & Mudaraba in the portfolio. These evidences 
may include existing data which refer to the occurrence of a negative change in the ability of a portfolio of borrowers 
to repay the bank or local or economic circumstances related to default in the bank’s assets. When scheduling the 
future cash flows, the management applies estimates based on prior experience. The method and assumptions applied 
in estimating the amount and timing of future cash flows are reviewed on a regular basis to eliminate any differences 
between estimated and actual losses according to experience, If the net present value of forecasted cash flows varies 
by    (-/+) 5%, the provision for forecasted impairment losses shall be higher by a sum of L.E. 956 956 or lower by sum 
of L.E. 956 956 from the formed provisions. 

B. Impairment in equity instruments investments available for sale
- The bank defines impairment in equity’s instruments’ investments available for sale when there is a significant decline 

in their fair value below their cost. Determining whether the decrease is significant depends on personal judgment. To 
reach this judgment the bank estimates- among other factors- the usual volatility of the share price. Additionally, there 
could be impairment if there is evidence on the existence of deterioration in the financial position of the company, 
the bank invested in, or in its operating and financing cash flows or if there is deterioration in the industry’s or sector’s 
performance or in case of changes in technology. 

- If any increase in the fair value over cost is considered significant or extended, the bank shall achieve additional profit 
by the sum of L.E. 521 463 representing the transfer of total fair value reserve profit to the income statement.

C. Financial investments held to maturity
- The un-derivative financial assets with payments and maturity dates that are fixed or determinable are classified as 

financial investments held to maturity, and this classification requires to a great extent the application of personal 
judgment and to reach such decision the bank evaluates the intention and ability to hold these investments till 
maturity. If the bank fails to hold these investments till maturity date, with the exception of very special cases such as 
selling an insignificant amount near maturity, then these investments which were classified held to maturity should 
be reclassified available for sale investments. Consequently these investments shall be measured by fair value and not 
by amortized cost in addition to suspension of classifying any investments under the said item. 

- If using the classification of investments as held to maturity is suspended, the book value shall be raised by a sum of 
L.E. 27 198 060 to reach the fair value by recording a corresponding entry in the fair value reserve among equity.
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D. Income Tax
Due to the issuance of the law of income tax No 91/2005 and its executive regulations, the income tax is calculated 
on net taxable earnings as per the tax return issued according to the law, using the taxation rates prevailing on the date 
of preparing the financial statements, provided that they would be charged to the income statement.

5. SECTOR ANALYSIS
A. Sector analysis for activities

Sectorial activity includes the operational transactions and assets used in providing banking services, managing their 
surrounding risks and the return correlated to this activity which may differ from other activities. Sectoral segment of 
transactions according to bank business includes the following:

- Bank’s head office.                                     - Alexandria Governorate branches

- Cairo Governorate branches                     - Other branches

- Giza Governorate branches
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B. Geographical Segment Analysis
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6. NET INCOME FROM RETURN

The bank holds debt instruments to cover the prescribed liquidity ratio of the customers’ deposits pursuant to the 
requirements of competent entities. We recommend that depositors observe the foregoing with regard to the returns 
on such instruments.
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7. NET FEES AND COMMISSIONS INCOME

8. DIVIDEND INCOME

9. NET TRADING INCOME
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10. ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

During the year 2012 the monthly average of net salaries, bonuses, and remunerations for the top Twenty key 
personnel in the bank combined net of tax and social insurance amounts to LE 1 132 437 compared to LE 1 125 444 
during year 2011.

11. OTHER OPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSES)
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12. IMPAIRMENT FOR CREDIT LOSSES

13. INCOME TAX EXPENSES

14. EARNINGS PER SHARE 

15. CASH AND DUE FROM CENTRAL BANK OF EGYPT
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16. DUE FROM BANKS

17. GOVERNMENTAL NOTES

The bank holds debt instruments to cover the prescribed liquidity ratio of the customers’ deposits pursuant to 
the requirements of competent entities. We recommend that depositors observe the foregoing with regard to the 
returns on such instruments.
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18. INVESTMENT OPERATIONS WITH BANKS

The balance includes LE 36 650 200 represents investment operations with Al Baraka Banking Group – the main 
shareholder in the bank – (against L.E 30 159 500 as of 31 December 2011). Revenue from these operations during the 
year amounted to LE 1 323 008 (against LE 1 127 179 as of 31 December 2011).

19. (MURABAHA, MUSHARAKA AND MUDARABA) FOR CUSTOMERS
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Al Ahram Bank Customer’s loans represents the balances of old debts for which a 100% provision is charged pertaining to Al 
Ahram Bank customers prior to converting into a bank that operates pursuant to the provision of the Islamic Sharia.

Provisions for impairment losses 
An analysis of the movements in the provision for impairment loss for Murabaha, Musharaka and Mudaraba for customers 
according to the following types:
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20. FINANCIAL INVESTMENTS

The bank holds debt instruments to cover the prescribed liquidity ratio of the customers’ deposits pursuant to the 
requirements of competent entities. We recommend that depositors observe the foregoing with regard to the returns on 
such instruments.
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Financial investments gain (loss)

Provision for impairment losses settlement of financial investment Held to maturity:

21. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATES

*     The company is not listed in the Egyptian Stock Market.
**   The latest audited financial statements of the company were used.
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22. OTHER ASSETS

23. DEFERRED INCOME TAX

Deferred income taxes were calculated on deferred tax differences according to the liabilities method.
 
Deferred tax assets resulting from tax losses brought forward are recognized only if probable future tax benefits exist 
through which brought forward losses could be utilized.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is reasonable legal ground for offsetting the current tax on assets 
against current tax on liabilities and also when the deferred income tax appendant to the same tax administration.

Deferred Tax assets and liabilities balances
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Movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities:
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24. FIXED ASSETS 
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There are leased assets according to law 95 / 1995 represented in some of the bank’s branches by finance leasing which are:

- On 29 June 2008, the bank’s management made a sale contract for the entire land and building of the head quarters of 

the bank in Dokki with Incolease (leasing company) worth 100 million Egyptian Pounds, the management also made a 

finance lease contract with the mentioned company in June 29, 2008 to lease back the property using finance lease with 

a total value of 153 602 500 Egyptian Pounds to be paid by bank transfer on 20 semi-annual installments starting from 

December 29, 2008.

- On 29 July 2008, the bank’s management made a sale contract for the 6th of October and Mohandeseen branches in 

addition to the Social Club in the 6th of October with Raya Leasing Co. in an amount of 31 million Egyptian pounds, 

the management also made a finance lease contract with the mentioned company in July 29, 2008 to lease back the 

previously mentioned properties using finance lease with a total value of 47 616 775 Egyptian Pounds to be paid by bank 

transfer on 20 semi-annual installments starting from January 31, 2009.

- On 25 December 2008, the bank’s management made a sale contract for 4 branches of the bank which are (Alexandria, 

Smouha, Burj Al Arab and Mansoura) with Al Saed Finance Leasing Co. with a total value of 35 million Egyptian Pounds, 

the management also made a finance lease contract with the mentioned company in December 25, 2008 to lease back 

the previously mentioned properties using finance lease with a total value of 53 760 875 Egyptian Pounds to be paid by 

bank transfer on 20 semi-annual installments starting from June 25, 2009.

- On January 2, 2012 , the bank bought back the entire land and building of the bank’s head quarters previously sold to 

Incolease Co. for a total amount of 65 million Egyptian Pounds, on January 29, 2012 the bank also bought back the 6th 

of October and Mohandeseen branches in addition to the Social Club in 6th of October City in return for a total price 

of 20.15 million Egyptian Pounds and on 25 June 2012, the management of the bank bought back the bank’s following 

branches (Alexandria, Smouha, the Burj Al Arab, Mansoura) in return for a total price of 22.75 million Egyptian Pounds.
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25. DUE TO BANKS  

26. CUSTOMERS’ DEPOSITS 
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27. OTHER FINANCES
A. Restricted long term finances

It represents the finance granted to the bank by the social fund for development (SFD) with a total value of LE 30.85 
million as restricted finance for relending with the purpose of developing small enterprises (new and existing) that was 
granted as follow:

- The original contract amounted to LE 28 million was concluded between the bank and the SFD on 6 September 2004, 
and was granted over two tranches each representing 50% of the contract value. The second tranche was paid after the 
bank has submitted to the fund what supports that 80% of the first tranche was spent on the intended purposes. The 
term of this finance is 7 years including grace period of 2 years commencing from granting date. The finance balance is 
to be settled over a 21 quarterly installments, the value of the first 20 installments amounts to LE 1.3 million each while 
the value of the twenty first installments are LE 2 million each. All installments have already been settled on the balance 
sheet date.

- The appendix to the original contract amounted to LE 3.5 million, which was concluded on 29 April 2007 - the contract 
was amended for the sum of the appendix to reach LE 2.85 million - to be repaid over a period of 6 years including a grace 
period of one year and to be settled over 21 quarterly installments, the value of the first twenty installments amounts 
to LE 135 thousands each and the value of the last installment is LE 150 thousand. Nineteen installments have already 
been settled so the value of this tranche of the finance is decreased by LE 2 565 thousand accordingly, the finance balance 
reached LE 285 000 on the date of the balance sheet. 

- The bank pays quarterly a return at the rate of 8% to the social fund for development for the unutilized portion of the 
granted finance balances for financing enterprises.
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B. Subordinated finance from main shareholder
On March 16, 2008 an agreement (investment Mudaraba deposit contract) was concluded with Al Baraka Banking Group 
(main shareholder of the bank) to support the subordinated capital of the bank by a sum of US $ 20 million. Such deposit 
is to be settled after five years from the date of the deposit on 25 March 2008. The deposit profits are calculated using 
the same method of calculating the dividends for the bank’s shareholders. The deposit bears profits if the bank distributes 
actual dividends to shareholders. Al Baraka Banking Group shall not be allowed to withdraw this deposit without the 
Central Bank of Egypt approval.

28. OTHER LIABILITIES
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29. OTHER PROVISIONS

The balance of other provisions represents the provisions charged to meet the probable legal and tax obligations in 
addition to provisions for contingent liabilities.

30. CAPITAL
The authorized capital amounted to LE 1 billion, the issued and paid up capital amounts to LE 707 537 495 
as of 31 December 2012 at par value of L.E 7 per share. All issued shares are fully paid.



Annual Report 2012

108

On April 21, 2012 the General Assembly of the bank approved the capital increase in an amount of LE 92 287 503 
through the distribution of stock dividends to shareholders.

On March 22, 2011 the General Assembly of the bank approved the capital increase in an amount of LE 80 249 995 
through the distribution of stock dividends to shareholders.

31. DIFFERENCES BETWEEN NOMINAL VALUE AND PRESENT VALUE OF SUBORDINATED FINANCE 
FROM MAIN SHAREHOLDER 

Represents the difference between the present value of the subordinated finance from the main Shareholder - 
discounted using a discount rate equivalent to the rate of return on governmental bonds with the same maturity 
starting from the date of the finance contract - and the book value of the subordinated finance from the main 
Shareholder as at 1 January 2009.

32. RESERVES
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A. General banking risk reserve
The Central Bank of Egypt instructions require forming a general banking risk reserve to face any unexpected risks, no 
distribution from the reserve shall be carried out except by the approval of the Central Bank of Egypt.

B. Legal reserve
Pursuant to the local laws, 10% of the net earning is transferred to a non-distributable reserve until the balance of such 
reserve reaches 100% of the capital.

C. Capital reserve
This reserve is reinforced using gains from sale of the bank’s fixed assets for the purpose of supporting and enhancing 
the financial position of the bank



Annual Report 2012

110

D. Special reserve
In accordance with the rules of preparing and presenting the financial statements issued by the Central Bank of Egypt’s 
Board of Directors on 16 December 2008, the specific reserve represents the impact of the change in accounting 
treatments.

E. Fair value reserve - financial investment available for sale
In accordance with the rules of preparing and presenting the financial statements issued by the Central Bank of Egypt’s 
Board of Directors on 16 December 2008, profits and losses resulting from changes in the fair value of financial 
investments available for sale are directly recognized in equity in this account until the asset is disposed or its value is 
impaired, upon which time profits and losses previously recognized in equity are charged to the income statement.
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33. RETAINED EARNINGS

 

34. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENT
For purposes of cash flow statement presentation, cash and cash equivalent include the following balances which dates 
of maturity do not exceed three months from acquisition date: 
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35. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND COMMITMENTS:

A. Legal Claims 
There are a number of existing cases filed against the bank as of 31 December 2012 and the provision charged for these 
cases amounts to LE 2 783 505 against L.E 1 392 480 as of 31 December 2011.   

B. Capital Commitments  

C. Finance, guarantees and facilities commitments (Net)
The bank’s commitments for finance, guarantees and facilities represented in the following:
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36. RELATED PARTIES TRANSACTIONS

Al Baraka Banking group (Bahrain) - main shareholder - owns 73% of ordinary shares. As for the remaining 27%, it is 
owned by other shareholders.
Related parties transactions are carried at arm length.
Transactions were carried out with members of the board of directors and subsidiaries and associates companies, 
represented in the following:

A. Deposits from related parties

B. Other finances (subordinated finance from main shareholder)

On March 16, 2008 an agreement (investment Mudaraba deposit contract) was concluded with Al Baraka Banking Group 
(main shareholder of the bank) to support the subordinated capital of the bank by a sum of US $ 20 million. Such deposit 
is to be settled after five years from the date of the deposit on 25 March 2008. The deposit profits are calculated using 
the same method of calculating the dividends for the bank’s shareholders. The deposit bears profits if the bank distributes 
actual dividends to shareholders. Al Baraka Banking Group shall not be allowed to withdraw this deposit without the 
Central Bank of Egypt approval.
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C. Other transactions with related parties

D. Board of directors and top management benefits
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37. MUTUAL FUNDS
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Fund of Zakah and Charity Donations

Financial Statements 
For the year ended 31 December 2012 &

   Auditors’ Report
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  Auditors’ Report

To The Shareholders of Al Baraka Bank Egypt 

Report on Financial Statements

We have audited the enclosed Financial Statements of Zakah Fund at Al Baraka Bank Egypt represented in the Balance Sheet as 
at 31 Dec. 2012 as well as the Income & Expenses Accounts for financial year ended on this date, as well as a summary of the 
significant accounting policies and other notes.

Responsibility of Management for Financial Statements

Such Financial Statements are the responsibility of the management of the Fund, for it is responsible for preparing and presenting 
the Financial Statements in a fair and clear manner pursuant to the standards of Egyptian accounting and in light of Egyptian 
laws in force. The responsibility of the management includes designing, implementing and maintaining internal control related 
to the preparation and presentation of the Financial Statements in a fair and clear manner free from any significant and effective 
misstatements whether resulting from falsification or error. Such responsibility also includes the selection of the appropriate 
accounting policies and their application as well as the preparation of the accounting forecasts that agree with the circumstances.

Responsibility of Auditor

Our responsibility is confined in expressing the opinion with regards to such Financial Statements in light of our audit thereto. 
Our audit was carried out pursuant to the standards of Egyptian Auditing and in light of the Egyptian laws in force. Such standards 
require that we comply with the requirements of professional behavior, planning and performing the audit to obtain appropriate 
confirmation that the financial statements are free from any significant and effective errors.

The works of audit include the performance of procedures to obtain audit evidence in connection with the values and disclosures 
in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the personal judgment of the auditor. This includes the assessment 
of the risk of significant and effective misstatements in the financial statements, whether resulting from falsification or error. At 
the time of assessing such risk, the auditor puts into his consideration the internal control related to the preparation of the Bank 
to the financial statements and their fair and clear presentation in order to design appropriate audit procedures that agree with 
the circumstances, but not with the objective of expressing opinion with regards to the efficiency of the internal control at the 
Bank. The process of audit also includes an assessment of the extent of appropriateness of the accounting policies and significant 
accounting forecasts that were prepared by the management as well as the right presentation by which they were submitted.
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We deem that the audit evidences that we have obtained are sufficient and appropriate, and are considered suitable grounds to 
express our opinion with regards to the financial statements.

Opinion

We believe that the abovementioned financial statements fairly and clearly express from all their significant aspects the financial 
position of Zakah Fund at Al Baraka Bank Egypt as at 31 December 2012, Income & Expenses for the financial year ending on this 
date pursuant to the standards of Egyptian accounting and in light of Egyptian laws in force related to the preparation of such 
financial statements.

Report on Other Legal & Regulatory Requirements

The Fund keeps proper financial accounts that include all what is required by its Statutes, and the figures of the Balance Sheet 
and Income & Expenses Account agree with what is mentioned in such accounts. 

The financial data mentioned in the report of the Fund Committee agree with what is mentioned in the books of the Fund within 
the limits such data are recorded in the books.
                     

Auditors

Hossam Zaki Nasr Tarek Salah
Allied for Accounting & Auditing                                                         Wahid Abdel Ghaffar & Co.

E & Y BT (BAKER TILLY)
Public Accountants &  Consultants                                                                         Public  Accountants & Consultants

Cairo on : 20 January 2013
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Balance Sheet
For the year ended 31 December 2012

                                              Ashraf El Ghamrawy                                                                            Adnan Ahmed Youssef                                                    
                                            Vice-Chairman & Chief Executive                                                                        Chairman 

Vice Chairman of Zakah Committee                                               Chairman of Zakah Committee

- Enclosed notes are an integral part of Financial Statements.
- Report of auditors enclosed.
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Income & Expenses
For the year ended 31 December 2012

- Enclosed notes are an integral part of Financial Statements.
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Notes to Financial Statements 
For the year ended 31 December 2012

1. Fund of Zakah and Charity Donations of Al Baraka Bank Egypt was established pursuant to the decision of the Board of 
Directors held on 29 April 1994 with its head office located at the head office of the Bank. The funds of the Fund and its 
accounts are independent of the funds of the Bank and its accounts. The resources of the Fund comprise the following:

•	 Zakah imposed by Islam on the funds of the Bank.
•	 Donations, and monetary and in-kind grants that depositors or third part from among individuals or authorities 

provide as approved by the Fund Management Committee. 
 
2. The Fund complies in all cases with spending Zakah in its Shari’a outlets.

3.  The monetary basis is adopted at the time of establishing the Income and Expenses of the Fund.

4. The item “against charity Investment “as at 31 December 2012 is  represented in the following:

L.E 1 622 850 value of charity deposits donated by third party to the Fund, of which the principal should not be 
touched, provided that its return would be spent pursuant to the system of the Bank as running alms by the knowledge 
of Zakah and Charity Donations Fund at the Bank.  
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Head Office & Branches

Head office
Address: 60 Mohy El-Din Abu El-Ezz Str.,      
Dokki, Giza, Egypt
Postal Code: 12311 Dokki
P.O.Box: 455 Dokki, Giza, Egypt
Tel.: (02)37481222-37481777(10 lines)
Fax: (02) 37611436-37611437-37611453
Swift: ABRKEGCA
e-mail: centeral@albaraka-bank.com.eg 
Internet:www.albaraka-bank.com.eg   

Mohy El-din Abu El-Ezz Branch
Address: As Above
Fax: (02) 37611438-37617305
Swift: ABRKEGCAEZZ
e-mail: mohyeldin@albaraka-bank.com.eg 

Cairo Branch
Address:  12 Ettehad El-Mohamien El-Arab  
Str., Garden City, Cairo, Egypt.
P.O.Box: 75 Maglesse El-Shaab, Cairo, Egypt.
Postal Code: 11516   
Tel.: (02) 27947112 -27950673
Fax: (02) 27949641 
Swift: ABRKEGCACAI
e-mail: cairo@albaraka-bank.com.eg 

Alfy Branch
Address:  14 El-Alfy Str., El-Thawra Bldg, Cairo, Egypt.
P.O.Box: 1994 Attaba, Cairo, Egypt
Postal Code: 11511  
Tel.: (02) 25901907 - 25902646 
Fax: (02) 25937950 
Swift: ABRKEGCAALF
e-mail: alfy@albaraka-bank.com.eg 

Zakat  Department
Address:  Address of Alfy Branch

Heliopolis Branch
Address:  76 El-Sayed El-Merghany Str., Heliopolis, Cairo, 
Egypt.
P.O.Box: 5986 Heliopolis West Cairo, Egypt
Postal Code: 11757  
Tel.: (02)  24140017-24140018-24140019
Fax: (02)   24140013
Swift: ABRKEGCAMRG
e-mail: heliopolis@albaraka-bank.com.eg 

Mohandessien Branch
Address:  45 Mohamed Hasan Helmy Str., 
Mohandessien, Giza,Egypt.
P.O.Box: 409 Imbaba, Giza, Egypt.
Postal Code: 12411   
Tel.: (02) 33037840-33037842
Fax: (02) 33037841
Swift: ABRKEGCAMOH
e-mail: mohandessien@albaraka-bank.com.eg 

Akkad Branch
Address:  El-Akkad Trade Center-Al-Nour Town, Nasr 
City,Cairo,Egypt.
P.O.Box: 9017 Nasr City, Cairo, Egypt.
Postal Code: 11765   
Tel.: (02) 24146517-24146518
Fax: (02) 24146519
Swift: ABRKEGCAAKD
e-mail: akkad@albaraka-bank.com.eg 

Maadi  Branch
Address:  3 Waheib Dous Str., El-Mahata Square , Maadi , 
Cairo , Egypt
P.O.Box: 1259 Maadi, Cairo, Egypt 
Postal Code: 11728
Tel.: (02) 27509879-27509881
Fax: (02) 27509885
Swift: ABRKEGCAMAD
e-mail: maadi@albaraka-bank.com.eg 
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6th of October Branch
Address:  1st  /A Area, Services Center Fifth & 
Sixth, in front of Vodafone 6th of October, Egypt.
P.O.Box: 649 (6th of October ), Egypt 
Postal Code: 12566
Tel.: (02) 38313964-38313965
Fax: (02) 38313963
Swift: ABRKEGCAOCT
e-mail: sixoctober@albaraka-bank.com.eg 

Faisal Branch
Address:  2El-Salam Str., Faisal , Giza, Egypt
P.O.Box: 68 Rabeia El-Gizy,Giza, Egypt 
Postal Code: 12515
Tel.: (02) 37800327-37800328-37800329
Fax: (02) 37800309
Swift: ABRKEGCAFSL
e-mail: faisal@albaraka-bank.com.eg 

Nasr City Branch
Address:  18 Ahmed Fakhry Str., Nasr City, 
Cairo, Egypt
P.O.Box: 43 El-Andalus
Postal Code: 11718
Tel.: (02) 26712948-26712947
Fax: (02) 26712928
Swift: ABRKEGCANSR
e-mail: nasrcity@albaraka-bank.com.eg 

El-Messaha  Branch
Address: 33El-Mesaha Str.,Dokki, Giza, Egypt
P.O.Box: 112 Dokki 
Postal Code:  12311 Dokki
Tel.: (02) 33366129-33366176
Fax: (02) 33366078
Swift: ABRKEGCADOK
e-mail: dokki@albaraka-bank.com.eg 

Ahmed Orabi  Branch
Address: 13 Corner of Alhady and Alamin Str., from 

Ahmed Orabi Str. Sahafieen City, Agouza , Giza, Egypt
P.O.Box: 20 Imbaba 
Postal Code:  12411
Tel.: (02)  33028543-33028544
Fax: (02)  33028535
Swift: ABRKEGCAORA
e-mail: orabi@albaraka-bank.com.eg 

Al-Azhar Branch
Address:  391 Port said Str. Al-Azhar Mall, Cairo, Egypt 
P.O.Box: 100 El-Ghoria 
Postal Code: 11639
Tel.: (02)  25106191-25106192
Fax: (02)  25106194
Swift: ABRKEGCAZHR
e-mail: azhar@albaraka-bank.com.eg 

Semuha  Branch
Address:  5 Dr. Sayed Fahmy Str., Section No. 5 Block 27 
Semuha,, Alexandria, Egypt
P.O.Box: 182 Sedy Gaber, Alexandria
Postal Code: 21311
Tel.: (03)4259142-4259145-4259146- 
         4259147
Fax: (03) 4259316
Swift: ABRKEGCASOM
e-mail: semuha@albaraka-bank.com.eg 

Alexandria  Branch
Address:  8 Bani El-abbassi Str., Azarita, Alexandria, Egypt
P.O.Box: 279 Al-Manshya, Alexandria
Postal Code: 2111
Tel.: (03) 4875672-4875631
Fax: (03) 4869930
Swift: ABRKEGCAAZA
e-mail: alexandria@albaraka-bank.com.eg 

Stanley  Branch
Address: 46 Abdelaziz Fahmy Pasha, Stanley El-Raml, 
Alexandria, Egypt
P.O.Box: 211 Seedy Gaber 
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Postal Code: 21311
Tel.: (03) 5413893-5413892-5413897
Fax: (03) 5413895
Swift: ABRKEGCASTN
e-mail: stanley@albaraka-bank.com.eg 

Borg El-Arab  Office
Address:  Fifth District, Bank’s Area , New Borg El-Arab 
City , Alexandria, Egypt
Tel.: (03) 4595116-4595114
Fax: (03) 4595115
Swift: ABRKEGCABRG
e-mail: borgelarab@albaraka-bank.com.eg 

Mansoura  Branch
Address:  Corner of Suez Canal & El-Falaky Str., Toreal 
Area, El-Mansoura, Egypt
P.O.Box: 90 El-Mansoura, Egypt 
Postal Code: 35511
Tel.: (050) 2334503-2334504-2334505
Fax: (050) 2334501
Swift: ABRKEGCAMAN
e-mail: mansoura@albaraka-bank.com.eg 

10th of Ramadan  Branch
Address:  4th /A Area City Main Center, 10th of Ramadan, 
Egypt
P.O.Box: 1038 10th of Ramadan, Egypt 
Postal Code: 44635
Tel.: (015) 389034-389035
Fax: (015) 389033
Swift: ABRKEGCAASH
e-mail: tenthramadan@albaraka-bank.com.eg 

El-Rehab Branch
Address:  Office Buliding No 6 Bank’s Area, El-Rehab City 
, Cairo, Egypt
P.O.Box: 110 El-Rehab City
Postal Code: 11841
Tel.: (02) 26928758-26928757
Fax: (02) 26928759

Swift: ABRKEGCARHB
e-mail: rehab@albaraka-bank.com.eg 

Sharm El-Sheikh Branch
Address:  Al-Salam Str., South of El-Central District,Sharm 
El-Sheikh, Egypt
P.O.Box: 408 Shram El-Sheikh
Postal Code: 46619 Sharm El-Sheikh
Tel.: (069) 3602674-3602675
Fax: (069) 3602676
Swift: ABRKEGCASHM
e-mail: sharmsheikh@albaraka-bank.com.eg 

 Shubra Branch
Address: 72Rod El-Farag Str., - Shubra, Egypt
P.O.Box: 2 shubra
Postal Code: 11689 Shubra
Tel.: (02) 24330833-24330832-24330840
Fax: (02) 24330834
Swift: ABRKEGCASHB
e-mail: shobra@albaraka-bank.com.eg 

Tanta Branch
Address:  32 El-Geash Str., Tanta, Gharbia, Egypt
P.O.Box: 285 Tanta
Postal Code: 31111 District Post Gharbia 
Tel.: (040) 3405976-3405977
Fax: (040) 3405998
Swift: ABRKEGCATAN
e-mail: tanta@albaraka-bank.com.eg 

Underfoundation:
New Head Office – New Cairo
Zamalek Branch– Zamalek
Saint Fatima Branch, Heliopolis
Abbasya Branch - Abbasya 
New Maadi Branch - Maadi
Adly Branch (to substitute El Alfi Branch) 
Al Hadika El Dawlia Branch, Nasr City
El Manial Branch, Cairo
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